# INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL of CONTEMPORARY EDUCATIONAL RESEARCH

Volume 2 | Issue 1 | Year 2015 | e-ISSN: 2148-3868



## INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL of CONTEMPORARY EDUCATIONAL RESEARCH



Volume: 2 Issue: 1

June 2015

#### **Editorial Board**

## **Editor-in-Chief** Mustafa AYDIN **Editors** Cahit ERDEM Mehmet KOÇYİĞİT **Editorial Board Members** Muhittin Çalışkan, Necmettin Erbakan University, Turkey Tsung-Hau Jen, National Taiwan Normal University, Taiwan Hüseyin Serçe, Selcuk University, Turkey Kuan-Ming Chen, National Academy For Educational Research, Taiwan Dennis Beach, University of Gothenburg, Sweden Ercan Yılmaz, Necmettin Erbakan University, Turkey Luminita CATANĂ, Institute of Educational Sciences Bucharest, Romania Tharwat M. El-Sakran,

American University of Sharjah, United Arab Emirates

Indexing



European Reference Index for the Humanities and Social Sciences (ERIH PLUS)



Scientific Indexing Services (SIS)



Türk Eğitim İndeksi (TEİ)



**Open Academic Journals Index (OAJI)** 



Sosyal Bilimler Atıf Dizini (SOBİAD)

#### **Table of Contents**

Ozkan Akman and Cemal Guven	
Bambang Aryan Soekisno, Yaya S. Kusumah, Jozua Sabandar	1-12
Sevket Cevhun Cetin, M. Sencer Corlu, Mary M. Capraro and Robert M. Capraro	
A Longitudinal Study of the Relationship between Mathematics and Science Scores: The Case of Texas	13-21
Ossi Autio, Mart Soobik, Gisli Thorsteinsson	
The Development of Craft and Technology Education Curriculums and Students' Attitudes towards Technology in I	Finland,
Estonia and Iceland	22-34
Ilhan Gunbayi and Tayfun Yoruk	
General High School Students' Opinions on the Use of Project FATIH	35-45
Ilana Levenberg	
Information on Coordinate System as a Tool for Developing Mathematical Thinking	46-53
Reinhard Oldenburg	
Reflections on the Importance of Reference for Understanding Thinking	54-60



## International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research (IJCER)

www.ijcer.net

## Analysis of TPACK Self-Efficacy Perception Levels of Social Studies Teachers and Pre-Service Teachers

**Ozkan Akman<sup>1</sup>, Cemal Guven<sup>1</sup>** <sup>1</sup> Necmettin Erbakan University

#### To cite this article:

Akman, O. & Guven, C. (2015). Analysis of TPACK self -efficacy perception levels of social studies teachers and pre - service teachers . *International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research*, 2(1), 1-12.

This article may be used for research, teaching, and private study purposes.

Any substantial or systematic reproduction, redistribution, reselling, loan, sub-licensing, systematic supply, or distribution in any form to anyone is expressly forbidden.

Authors alone are responsible for the contents of their articles. The journal owns the copyright of the articles.

The publisher shall not be liable for any loss, actions, claims, proceedings, demand, or costs or damages whatsoever or howsoever caused arising directly or indirectly in connection with or arising out of the use of the research material.



## Analysis of TPACK Self-Efficacy Perception Levels of Social Studies Teachers and Pre-Service Teachers

**Ozkan Akman<sup>1\*</sup>, Cemal Guven<sup>1</sup>** <sup>1</sup> Necmettin Erbakan University

#### Abstract

The purpose of this research is to examine the self-efficacy technological pedagogical and content knowledge (TPACK) of the social studies teachers and pre-service teachers. TPACK scale which is developed by the researcher in this respect is applied to 113 social studies teachers and 919 social studies pre-service teachers. The method of the research has been patterned by the monitoring method. In accordance with the obtained data, the consistency index values are found by calculation of structural equity path coefficients (path analysis). The data has been classified with SPSS program and has been analyzed with AMOS (Analyses of Moment Structures) program. In the study, while the relation level between other components and the technological knowledge teachers are seen in low and middle level, the relation level between the content knowledge and pedagogical knowledge has been found in higher level. Consequently, the necessity has occurred for the integration of the technological pedagogical and content knowledge of the social studies teachers and pre-service teachers.

Key words: TPACK, Social Studies, Technology, Pedagogy

#### Introduction

The rapid changes and developments in the knowledge and communication technologies in our day which we named as knowledge area reflect on the education. The individual has to use the technology efficiently for keeping up with this change and development (Kurt, 2013). Turkey which is not indifferent to this issue has started Increasing Opportunities in Education and Technology Reformation Movement (FATIH) project with the cooperation of Ministry of National Education and Ministry of Communication. The technological pedagogical and content knowledge perception which is presented by Mishra and Koehler (2006) in this respect has been united with technology and education has been tried to be more efficient by being integrated within education processes.

#### **Theoretical Framework: TPACK**

The components of technological, pedagogical and content knowledge consists of seven components as technological knowledge, pedagogical knowledge, content knowledge, technological pedagogical knowledge, technological content knowledge, content pedagogical knowledge and technological pedagogical content knowledge.

*Technology Knowledge (TK)*: Technology with the widest meaning has been identified as the changes made by the humans on the nature for their needs (Pearson & Young, 2002). When consider the technology in terms of education, Kurt (2013) has showed the efficient usage of the software tools like operating system, computer hardware, word processors, spreadsheet programs, web browser and e-mail in addition to book, chalk and blackboard. The technologies which are developed in present oblige the technology usage skills of the teachers (Koehler & Mishra, 2009). The constant change of the technology causes the changing of the nature of the technology (Mishra & Koehler, 2005; Yigit, 2014).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding Author: Ozkan Akman, akmanozkan@hotmail.com

*Content Knowledge (CK):* Mishra and Koehler (2006) have explained the content knowledge as expressing the knowledge which takes part in this content and the knowledge to be taught in this content. The content knowledge is the knowledge which is given to the student through courses. The knowledge content of the course which is taught shall be known in outstanding level in this respect (Kurt et al., 2013).

*Pedagogical Knowledge (PK):* Harris et al. (2009) has identified the pedagogical knowledge as the knowledge of the method of teaching a subject. Yelken et al. (2013) have explained the pedagogical knowledge as the subjects like learning, evaluation of learning, development practices, course planning, class management, regulation the class environment and intramural communication. Saltan (2013), identifies this subject as the course designs which are in conformity with the cognitive levels, development level, learning types and interest of the student groups during the course process. Incekapi (2013) considers pedagogical knowledge as knowing how to teach a course

*Pedagogical content knowledge (PCK):* PCK idea was first presented by Shulman (1986). Pedagogical content knowledge is related with the teaching method of a specific content, the types of the education strategies. PCK, is the education with different strategies, method and techniques for each subject (Mishra & Koehler, 2006). PCK is the combination of the pedagogy and content and the implementation of them. PCK is the knowledge of, showing how to teach any subject to the student in a specific discipline (Cox & Graham, 2009; Jimoiannis, 2010; Yigit, 2014). There is strong relation between the pedagogy and content knowledge. This relation shows us to teach each subject with different teaching strategies (Sahin, 2011).

*Technological and Content Knowledge (TCK):* TCK is the knowledge about the integration of technology with content. The teachers need to know the new technological applications as well as the subjects to be taught (Mishra & Koehler, 2006). Kılıç (2013), defines the technological content knowledge as a knowledge type which is associated with each other. The technological content knowledge is to know the conformity of the new technology to the teaching at the same time. We have to know which subject is in conformity with which technology (Kurt et al., 2013). The teacher must know to select the appropriate technology for enriching the content of the course because a technology which does not conform to its purpose is ineffective in reintegrating the terminal behavior.

*Technological and Pedagogical Knowledge (TPK):* TPK occur from the integration of the technology and formation knowledge (Mishra & Koehler, 2006). Kılıç (2013), expresses that there are different technologies used in teaching and learning environment and to know their specialities. This knowledge can also be expressed as the usage method of the technology in teaching environment (Yurdakul & Odabası, 2013). A teacher can have technological knowledge but we cannot consider education efficiency in efficient level when he cannot integrate this with the pedagogical knowledge in education environment. One of the reasons of the failure of many educations given with technology does not know how to give technology with pedagogy (Bozkurt et al., 2013).

*Technological, Pedagogical and Content Knowledge (TPACK):* TPACK is the knowledge which consists of the components of technology, pedagogy and content knowledge. This knowledge is different from the general pedagogical knowledge which is used by the teacher, from the technology which needs a specific expertise, discipline. TPACK establishes the base of a good teaching with technology (Mishra & Koehler, 2006). As mentioned in Figure 1, TPACK is an integration which is formed by the technology pedagogy and content knowledge. However TPACK shall be considered as a situation which is used in the education environment at the same time. In other words, to teach a subject, a course by using technology, does mean that the teacher uses TPACK (Kurt, 2013). Technology pedagogy and content knowledge shall not be given as independent from each other but shall be given as integration (Sahin, 2011).



Figure 1. Technological, Pedagogical and Content Knowledge Components

This study is made for determining TPAB levels of teachers and pre-service teachers of social studies. As different from other studies, it is a study which is specific for social sciences content. The scale which is developed by the researcher is prepared only for determining the TPACK level of the teachers and pre-service teachers of social studies. Answers are searched for the below questions in this respect.

- 1. What kind of a relation are there between the perception of the social studies teachers to technological, pedagogical and content knowledge components?
- 2. What kind of a relation are there between the perception of the social studies pre-service teachers to technological, pedagogical and content knowledge components?

#### Method

This section of the research mentions the model of the research, nature/sample, sampling type, data collection tools, analysis and commenting the data.

#### Model of the research

By using TPACK model in this research, it is aimed to examine the technological pedagogical and content knowledge level of the pre-service teachers of social studies in faculty of education and social studies teachers working in secondary schools. This study is patterned by using monitoring model.

#### **Participants**

Sampling.1 (Application 1 - pre-service teachers): This study is carried out in all regions of our country. The nature of the pre-service teachers is formed by the fourth grade students in social studies education in whole faculty of education in our country. Our sampling group consists of 919 pre-service teachers in total who are selected by the nature based sampling method.

#### 4 Akman & Guven

*Sampling.2 (Application 2 - teachers):* the nature of the teacher consists of the social studies teachers working within the body of Konya Provincial National Education Directorate. The sampling of the research is carried out by 113 teachers who are selected from this nature.

#### **Data Collection Tools**

Accordingly, seven sizes have been determined in the scale which is issued by the researcher (Akman, 2014; Akman & Guven, 2015). These are; size of technological knowledge (TK), pedagogical knowledge size (PK), size of content knowledge (CK), size of pedagogical and content knowledge (PCK), size of technological and pedagogical knowledge (TPK), size of technological and content knowledge (TCK), size of technological, pedagogical and content knowledge (TPACK).

The scale which is issued has been formed in the type of five points Likert scale. 1-2-3-4-5 numbers are located across the articles of the scales. Respectively the numbers are given the meaning as; I do not know, I know in low level, I know in middle level, I know in good level, I know in very good level. Validity and reliability studies are made for the obtained data. According to the reliability studies made, the reliability coefficient of Alpha Cronbach of the scale has been found as 0.977. Affirmative factor analyses are made on the obtained data.

*Data Collection and Application:* The data of the study is collected from the teachers and pre-service teachers. The scale which is distributed for being applied to the teachers is 230 and the collected scale is 120. However, some teachers have marked the scale without reading so seven of them are deducted and the data collected from 113 teachers is taken as a basis. The feedback rate in pre-service teachers is seventy percent (distributed scale: 1450; collected: 1113). However, some teachers have marked the scale without reading so 919 of them are taken to evaluation.

#### **Data Analysis**

According to results, the consistency index values are found by calculation of structural equity path coefficients (path analysis). The data has been classified with SPSS program and has been analysed with AMOS (Analyses of Moment Structures) program. In this study, structural equity model is used in order to determine factors and their relations and it is found how those relations are conformed with real data.

There are some index types which are confronted regularly in literature. These are:  $X^2/df$ , CFI, RMSEA, GFI, AGFI, NFI, NNFI, SRMR indexes (Karademir & Erten, 2013; Karademir & Erten, 2014).

Index Types	$\frac{\gamma^2}{df}$	<u>RMR</u>	<u>GFI</u>	<u>CFI</u>	<u>RMSEA</u>
Index Values	1,398	0,038	0,853	0,918	0,050
Perfect fit	< 3	$0 \le RMR \le 0.05$	0,95≤GFI≤1	$0,97 \le CFI \le 1$	$0 \le \text{RMSEA} \le 0,05$
Acceptable fit	< 5	0,05 ≤ RMR ≤ 0,10	0,90≤GFI≤0,95 veya 0,80≤GFI≤0,89	0,90≤CFI≤0,95 veya 0,80≤GFI≤0,89	$0,05 \le \text{RMSEA} \le 0,10$

 Table 1.Criterion references for fit indices of linear factor analysis

#### Results

In this section of the research, structural equity model outputs are mentioned for understanding the relation level between teachers and pre-service teachers and TPACK components.



Figure 1. Findings showing the relation between the structural equity model and technological pedagogical content knowledge of the teachers

Fit Index Values: X2/df: 0.249, N: 113, RMSEA: 0.056, RMR: 0.149, GFI: 0.997, AGFI: 0.982, NFI: 0.998

The structural equation model outputs made with the teacher data related with TPACK are mentioned in Figure 1. Accordingly; it is determined that the adaptive value is in the acceptable level. Accordingly; there is medium level relation between the TK and CK (r=0.50), a medium level relation between TK and PK (r=0.48), there is high level relation between PK and CK (r=0.73). There is no direct relation between TPK and CK but there is low level direct relation between TPK and CK ( $\beta$ =0.33). There is very low relation between TK and TPK (B=0.19), low level relation between PK and TPK (B=0.38). The explanation percentage of TPK relation between these two factors is  $R^2=0.65$ . So 65 % of the TPK perception is explained by the TK and PK. There is a low level relation between PK and PCK ( $\beta$ =0.28). A medium level relation is detected between CK and PCK ( $\beta$ =0.44). The explanation percentage of PCK between these two factors is R<sup>2</sup>= 0.67. So 67 % of the PCK perception is explained by the PK and CK. There is a low level relation between the TK and TCK ( $\beta$ =0.30) and a higher relation is detected between TK and TCK ( $\beta$ =0.44). The explanation percentage of TCK between these two factors is  $R^2=0.59$ . So 59 % of the TCK perception is explained by the TK and CK. There is a low level relation between TPK and CK ( $\beta$ =0.29), there is a very low relation between PCK and TPACK ( $\beta$ =0.08) and there is medium relation between TCK and TPACK ( $\beta$ =0.45). The explanation percentage of TPACK between these three factors is  $R^2$ =0.76. So 76 % of the TPACK perception is explained by these three factors. In figure 2, structural equity model and findings related with the pre-service teachers are mentioned.



Figure 2. Findings showing the relation between the components of technological pedagogical content knowledge of pre-service teachers with structural equity model.

Fit Index Values: X2/df: 0.922, N: 919, RMSEA: 0.054, RMR: 0.84, GFI: 0.999, AGFI: 0.992, NFI: 1.00

The structural equation modelling outputs made with pre-service teachers related with TPACK are mentioned in figure 2. Accordingly it is detected that the adaptive values are in the acceptable level. Accordingly there is low level relation between TK and CK (r=0.30), there is higher relation between TK and PK (r=0.33) and there is a higher relation between PK and CK (r=0.65) No direct relation is seen between TK, PK, CK and TPACK. There is very low relation between TK and TPK ( $\beta$ =0.18), there is a higher relation between PK and TPK ( $\beta$ =0.39). The explanation percentage of TPK relation between these two factors is R<sup>2</sup>=0.59. So 59 % of the TPK perception is explained by the TK and PK. There is a low level relation between PK and PCK is ( $\beta$ =0.27). A higher relation is detected between CK and PCK ( $\beta$ =0.54). The explanation percentage of PCK between these two factors is explained by the PCK. There is a medium relation between CK and TCK ( $\beta$ =0.41) and there is a lower relation between TK and TCK ( $\beta$ =0.36). The explanation percentage of TCK of these two factors are R<sup>2</sup>=0.60. So 60 % of the TCK perception is explained by the TCK. There is a lower relation between TK and TCK ( $\beta$ =0.40). The explanation percentage of TCK of these two factors are R<sup>2</sup>=0.66. So 66 % of the TPACK perception is explained by these three factors.

#### **Discussion and Conclusion**

#### Results related with pre-service teachers

In the structural equity model analysis of the pre-service teachers, the relation level of technology with other components of TPACK is low with pedagogy and content knowledge. However, it is so challenging that the pre-service teachers, who will start working in Ministry of National Education, should have these types of skills during their bachelor education but they do not have these skills. Similar result to this situation shows parallelism to a study made by Celik et al. (2014). The technology which the teachers need for integrating the technology in parallel with the development of technology from past to present has been built on the knowledge (Hofer & Swan, 2008; Koehler, Mishra & Yahya, 2007; Landry, 2010). Likewise, it has been mentioned that the

technological knowledge of the teachers shall be strengthened for providing the efficiency and persistency of the learning environment with technology (Sahin, 2011; Selim, Tatar & Oz, 2009; Schmidt et al., 2009; Kabakci Yurdakul et al., 2012). The relation level between the TK and PK of the pre-service teachers in structural equity modelling is low (r=0.33) while the relation level between CK and PK is higher (r=0.65). When we consider the results, we can see that the relation level between the TK and PK is low. Accordingly the technology must be supported together with the pedagogical perceptions in education (Hughes, 2005; Koehler, Mishra & Yahya, 2007; Erdogan & Sahin, 2010; Lux, Bangert, & Whittier, 2011). There is low relation between the CK and TK (r=0.30) and the relation level between CK and PK is higher (r=0.65). There is no direct relation with the CK and TPACK but there is a relation between PCK, TPK and PCK. It is mentioned in the results of various studies that the CK of the pre-service teachers shall be supported with the educations they take and the following skills they gain (Koehler & Mishra, 2005; Koehler & Mishra, 2008; Koehler & Mishra, 2009; Mishra & Koehler, 2006; Mishra & Koehler, 2008; Schmidt et al., 2009). The relation level between PCK and TPACK is lower  $(\beta=0.27)$ . The situation includes contrast in the research made by Celik et al. (2014). Accordingly the relation level between PCK and PK is higher and the relation level between PCK and CK is lower. There is a direct relation between the PK and CK on PCK. When the researches made on the teacher education is examined, the PK is ignored although the PCK which the teachers and pre-service teachers should have must be within an in dissociable structure (Shulman, 1986). However many studies in the last years are built on the PCK (Shulman, 1986). It has been discussed that the PK and CK shall be integrated with each other (Mishra and Koehler, 2006), and the learning strategies shall be learned for being a better teacher (Shulman, 1986). The level of the relation between TPK and TK is lower ( $\beta$ =0.18). The level of relation between TPK and PK has medium level ( $\beta$ =0.39). The relation level between TPK and TPACK is ( $\beta$ =0.21). The results of the study made by Celik et al. (2014) show parallelism. However there is no direct relation between TPK and TPACK in this study. In the different studies, there is also no direct relation between TPK and TPACK (Lux, 2010).

There is medium level between TCK and TK ( $\beta$ =0.36), there is a medium relation between TCK and CK ( $\beta$ =0.41), there is a medium relation between TCK and TPACK ( $\beta$ =0.49). There is a low relation between TCK and TK, the relation between TCK and CK is very low in the study made by Celik et al. (2014). The relation between TCK and TPACK shows parallelism with our study. The usage of content and technology together, is more important than using the technology by itself (Kuşkaya-Mumcu, Haslaman, & Usluel, 2008; Mishra & Koehler, 2008; Sahin, 2011). There is no direct relation between TPACK and TK, PK and CK. There is a low level relation with TPK ( $\beta$ =0.21), low relation with PCK ( $\beta$ =0.29), medium relation level with TCK. In the study developed by Schmidt et al. (2009), the measurement of TPACK is aimed and similar results have been achieved. In another study made by Kim et al. (2009) on pre-service teachers, it is observed that TK, PK and CK which are the components of TPACK are not efficient adequately.

#### **Results related with teachers**

According to the structural equity model, the relation between TK and PK is in medium level (r=0.48), the relation with CK is in medium level ( $\beta$ =0.50), the relation with TCK is in medium level ( $\beta$ =0.44) and the relation with TPK is in low level ( $\beta$ =0.19). In the study made by Archambault and Crippen (2009) for measuring the competence of the teachers in terms of TPACK, it is seen that the TK of the teachers is in medium level however their TCK is in low level. In the study of Schmidt et al. (2009), aimed at the course experiences of the teachers, it is observed that their TPACK increases when the courses are organized with technologies approaches for teachers. There is a medium level between PK and TK of the teachers (r=0.48) and there is a high relation between PK and CK (r=0.73). There is low relation between PK and TPK ( $\beta$ =0.38) and there is a medium level relation between PCK ( $\beta$ =0.44). There is no direct relation between TPACK. In the study made by Archambault and Crippen (2009), there is weak relation between TK and PK forming TPACK however the relation between PK and CK is high.

This study shows parallelism with our study. According to the results of the structural equity modelling; there is a medium relation between CK and TK (r=0.50), a high level between PK (r=0.73). There is a low level relation between CK and TPK ( $\beta$ =0.28), a medium level relation between PCK ( $\beta$ =0.44), low level relation between TCK ( $\beta$ =0.30), there is a direct relation between TPACK ( $\beta$ =0.12). When other researchers are examined, it is observed that in case the CK is low, the other content types shall be affected negatively and therefore the teachers shall have a healthy CK level (Cavanagh & Koehler, 2013; Kuşkaya-Mumcu, Haşlaman, & Usluel, 2008; Demir & Bozkurt, 2011). It is seen that TPACK has a direct relation with CK, PCK, TPK and TCK, TK and PK has no direct relation. In the researches made in the different education field, same results have been achieved (Bilgin, Tatar, & Ay, 2012). Schmidt et al. (2009) have concluded that the in service courses provided to the teachers increase TPACK skills of the teachers.

#### Suggestions

The developments in science and technology have changed the education technologies as well as the communal life. Therefore the pre-service teachers, who shall be appointed to this sacred profession in the future, shall adopt and comprehend this change. They shall not limit themselves only with the bachelor courses in the faculty in terms of professional development but also; they shall follow the academic and scientific activities for improving themselves.

The teachers shall keep their pedagogical and technological knowledge updated during learning and teaching process. They shall guide the students in accessing the right information in digital sources (internet, CD, etc) they shall develop themselves in technology integration by using their expertise's in social sciences.

#### Acknowledgements

This paper is resulted from the doctoral study of the first author.

#### References

- Akman, O. (2014). Sosyal Bilgiler Öğretmen ve Öğretmen Adaylarının Teknolojik Pedagojik ve Alan Bilgisi Öz-Yeterlik Algı Düzeylerinin Çok Yönlü İncelenmesi (Yayınlanmış doktora tezi). Necmettin Erbakan Üniversitesi, Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Konya.
- Akman, O., & Guven, C. (2015). TPACK Survey Development Study for Social Sciences Teachers and Teacher Candidates. International Journal of Research in Education and Science (IJRES), 1(1), 1-10.
- Archambault, L., & Crippen, K. (2009). Examining TPACK Among K-12 Online Distance Educators in the United States. Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education, 9(1), 71-88.
- Bilgin, I., Tatar, E., & Ay, Y. (2012). Sınıf Öğretmeni Adaylarının Teknolojiye Karşı Tutumlarının Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi (TPAB)'ne Katkısının Incelenmesi. X. Ulusal Fen Bilimleri ve Matematik Eğitimi Kongresi Bildiriler Kitabı, 125.
- Bozkurt, A., Koc, Y., ve Demir, S. (2013). PAB Çerçevesinde Matematik Öğretimine Bir Teknoloji Entegrasyon Modeli ve Uygulama Örneği (Editörler: Tuğba Yanpar Yelken, Hatice Sancar Tokmak, Sinan Özgelen Ve Lütfi İncekapı).Fen Ve Matematik Eğitiminde Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi Temelli Öğretim Tasarımı. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık. 183-201.
- Cavanagh, R. F. & Koehler, M. J. (2013). A Turn toward Specifying Validity Criteria in The Measurement of Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK). Journal of Research on Technology in Education, 46(2), 129-148.
- Celik, I., Sahin, I., & Akturk, A.O. (2014). Analysis of the Relations Among the Components of Technological Pedagogical and Content Knowledge (TPACK): A Structural Equation Model for TPACK. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, *51*(1).
- Cox, S., & Graham, C. R. (2009). Using An Elaborated Model of the TPACK Framework to Analyze and Depict Teacher Knowledge. *TechTrends*, 53(5), 60-71.
- Demir, S., & Bozkurt, A. (2011). Primary Mathematics Teachers' Views About Their Competencies Concerning the Integration of Technology. *Elementary Education Online*, 10(3), 850-860.
- Erdogan, A., & Sahin, I. (2010). Relationship Between Math Teacher Candidates' Technological Pedagogical and Content Knowledge (TPACK) and Achievement Levels. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 2(2), 2707-2711.
- Harris, J., Mishra, P., & Koehler, M. (2009). Teachers' Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge and Learning Activity Types: Curriculum-based technology integration reframed. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 41(4), 393-416.
- Hofer, M., & Swan, K. O. (2008). Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge in Action: A Case Study of a Middle School Digital Documentary Project. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 41(2), 179-200.
- İncikapı, L. (2013). TPAB-Temelli 'Teknolojiyle Öğretim'dersi: Matematik Öğretimi İçin Bilgisayar Oyunu Tasarlama. (Editörler: Tuğba Yanpar Yelken, Hatice Sancar Tokmak, Sinan Özgelen Ve Lütfi İncekapı).Fen Ve Matematik Eğitiminde Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi Temelli Öğretim Tasarımı. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık. 221-238
- Jimoyiannis, A. (2010). Developing a Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge Framework for Science Education: Implications of a Teacher Trainers' Preparation Program. In Proceedings of Informing Science & IT Education Conference (InSITE) (Vol. 597, p. 607).

- Kabakci Yurdakul, I., Odabasi, H. F., Kilicer, K., Coklar, A. N., Birinci, G., & Kurt, A. A. (2012). The Development, Validity and Reliability of TPACK-deep: A Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge Scale. *Computers & Education*,58(3), 964-977.
- Karademir, E. (2013). Öğretmen ve Öğretmen Adaylarının Fen ve Teknoloji Dersi Kapsamında Okul Dışı Öğrenme Etkinliklerini Gerçekleştirme Amaçlarının Planlanmış Davranış Teorisi Yoluyla Belirlenmesi. (Yayınlanmamış doktora tezi). Hacettepe Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, Ankara.
- Karademir, E. & Erten, S. (2014). Determining the Factors that Affect the Objectives of Pre-Service Science Teachers to Perform Outdoor Science Activities. International Journal of Education in Mathematics, Science and Technology, 1(4), 270-293.
- Kılıç, Ç. (2013). Matematik Öğretiminde TPAB'ni Geliştirmeye Yönelik Uygulamalar: Ders Tasarımında Eğitimsel Yazılımlar (Editörler: Tuğba Yanpar Yelken, Hatice Sancar Tokmak, Sinan Özgelen Ve Lütfi İncekapı).Fen Ve Matematik Eğitiminde Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi Temelli Öğretim Tasarımı. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık. 202-220.
- Kim, C., Kim, M.K., Lee, C., Spector, J.M., & De Meester, K. (2013). Teacher beliefs and technology integration. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 29, 76-85.
- Koehler, M.J., & Mishra, P. (2009). What is Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK). *Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education*, 9(1), 60-70.
- Koehler, M. J. & Mishra, P. (2005). What Happens When Teachers Design Educational Technology? The Development of Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge. *Journal Of Educational Computing Research*, 32(2), 131-152.
- Koehler, M. J., Mishra, P., & Yahya, K. (2007). Tracing the Development of Teacher Knowledge in a Design Seminar: Integrating Content, Pedagogy and Technology. Computers & *Education*, 49, 740-762.
- Kurt, A. A., Abdullah, K. U. Z. U., Dursun, O. O., Güllepinar, F., & Gültekin, M. (2013). Fatih Projesinin Pilot Uygulama Sürecinin Değerlendirilmesi: Öğretmen Görüşleri. *Journal Of Instructional Technologies & Teacher Education*, 2(1).
- Kurt, A. A. (2013). Eğitimde Teknoloji Entegrasyonuna Kavramsal Ve Kuramsal Bakış. (Editör: Işıl Kabakçı Yurdakul). Teknopedagojik Eğitime Dayalı Öğretim Teknolojileri Ve Materyal Tasarımı. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık. 1-38
- Kuskaya-Mumcu, F., Haslaman, T., & Usluel, Y.K. (2008). Teknolojik Pedagojik İçerik Bilgisi Modeli Çerçevesinde Etkili Teknoloji Entegrasyonunun Göstergeleri. *International Educational Technology Conference (IECT), 6-8 Mayıs*,
- Landry, G. A. (2010). Creating and Validating an Instrument to Measure Middle School Mathematics Teachers' Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK). University of Tennessee, Knoxville.
- Lux, N. J., Bangert, A. W., & Whittier, D. B. (2011). The Development of an Instrument to Assess Preservice Teacher's Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 45(4), 415-431.
- Mishra, P. & Koehler, M. (2006). Technological pedagogical content knowledge: A framework for teacher knowledge. *The Teachers College Record*, *108*(6), 1017-1054.
- Pearson, G., & Young, A. T. (Eds.). (2002). *Technically Speaking:: Why All Americans Need to Know More About Technology*. National Academies Press.
- Sahin, I. (2011). Development of Survey of Technological Pedagogical and Content Knowledge (TPACK). *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 10(1), 97-105.
- Saltan, F. (2013). Teknoloji Destekli Örnek Olaya Dayalı Öğretim Yöntemi Uygulanan TPAB-Temelli Fen Öğretimi: Öğretim Teknolojileri ve Materyal Tasarımı Dersi(Editörler: Tuğba Yanpar Yelken, Hatice Sancar Tokmak, Sinan Özgelen ve Lütfi İncekapı).Fen ve Matematik Eğitiminde Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi Temelli Öğretim Tasarımı. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık. 165-182.
- Schmidt, D. A., Baran, E., Thompson, A. D., Mishra, P., Koehler, M. J., & Shin, T. S. (2009). Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK) The Development and Validation of an Assessment Instrument for Preservice Teachers. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 42(2), 123-149.
- Selim, Y., Tatar, E., & Öz, R. (2009). Model, T. Matematik Öğretmen Adaylarının Hazırladıkları Öğretim Materyallerinin Tömab Modeli İle İncelenmesi An Investigation Of Instructional Materials Prepared By Mathematics Preservice Teachers On. *ErzincanÜniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Dergisi*, 2(2), 239-251.
- Shulman, L. S. (1987). Those Who Understand: Knowledge Growth in Teaching. Educational Researcher, 15(2), 4-14.
- Yelken, T.Y, Tokmak, H.S, Özgelen, S. & İncikapı, L. (2013). Teknolojik- Pedagojik- Alan Bilgisi (TPAB) Çerçevesi ve Bu Çerçevenin Milli Eğitim Bakanlığı Fen ve Matematik Eğitimi Programındaki Yeri. (Editörler: Tuğba Yanpar Yelken, Hatice Sancar Tokmak, Sinan Özgelen ve Lütfi İncekapı).Fen ve Matematik Eğitiminde Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi Temelli Öğretim Tasarımı. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık. 1-12.

- Yigit, M. (2014). A Review of the Literature: How Pre-Service Mathematics Teachers Develop Their Technological, Pedagogical, and Content Knowledge. International Journal of Education in Mathematics, Science and Technology, 2(1), 26-35.
  Yurdakul, I. K., & Odabaşı H. F. (2013). Teknopedagojik Eğitim Modeli. (Editör: Işıl Kabakçı Yurdakul).
- Yurdakul, I. K., & Odabaşı H. F. (2013). Teknopedagojik Eğitim Modeli. (Editör: Işıl Kabakçı Yurdakul). Teknopedagojik Eğitime Dayalı Öğretim Teknolojileri Ve Materyal Tasarımı. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık. 39-70

#### Appendix 1: The Scale of TPACK

#### **Dear Social Studies Teacher and Pre-Service Teacher**

This survey is issued for examining the relation between technology, pedagogy and content knowledge of the social studies teacher and pre-service teachers. Your answers in the Survey shall be used for research and your identification and answers shall be definitely kept secret. For this reason, do not hesitate to answer intimately. The numbers at the right side of the page express these: (1) I do not know, (2) I know in low level, (3) I know in middle level, (4) I know in good level, (5) I know in very good level

**ITEMS OF TPACK SURVEY** 

1	Using Office programs (Like Word, Excel, and Powerpoint)	1	2	3	4	5
2	Communicating through Internet (E-mail, Skype)	1	2	3	4	5
3	Using data (saving to Flash Memory, CD, DVD)	1	2	3	4	5
4	Using printer, digital camera and Scanner	1	2	3	4	5
5	Using the programs of concept maps, drawing graphics (Inspration, Excel etc.)	1	2	3	4	5
6	Developing daily, annual and unit plan	1	2	3	4	5
7	Developing classic (multiple choice test, True-False Test, open ended Question etc) and complementary (Control List, Valuation Scale, Gradational Grading Key, Self-Efficacy Form, Peer Assessment Form etc) measurement tools	1	2	3	4	5
8	Evaluating the performance of the teacher with classic and alternative (complementary) measuring tools	1	2	3	4	5
9	Implementing the different teaching strategies (Presentation Strategy, <i>Invention Strategy, Research-Analysing Strategy etc.</i> )	1	2	3	4	5
10	Implementing different methods (Plain Expression, Case Study, Problem Based Learning, Project based Learning etc.)	1	2	3	4	5
11	Implementing different teaching techniques (Brain Storming, Six Thinking Hats, Demonstration, Metaphor etc.)	1	2	3	4	5
12	Learning theory and hypothesis ( Structuralist Learning, Multiple Intelligence Theory, Project Based Education etc.)	1	2	3	4	5
13	How the class management shall be organized and continued in Social Sciences course	1	2	3	4	5
14	Content Knowledge related with Individual and Society learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
15	Content Knowledge related with Culture and Heritage learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
16	Content Knowledge related with Humans, Places and Environment learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
17	Content Knowledge related with Production, Distribution, Consumption learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
18	Content Knowledge related with Time, Consistency and Alteration learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
19	Content Knowledge related with Science, Technology and Society learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
20	Content Knowledge related with Groups, Institutions and Social Organizations learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
21	Content Knowledge related with Power, Management and Society learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
22	Content Knowledge related with Global Connections learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
23	Current releases in Social Sciences field (Releases and books)	1	2	3	4	5
24	Selecting teaching strategies which are convenient to achievements related with Social Studies	1	2	3	4	5
25	Selecting education models which are convenient to achievements related with Social Studies	1	2	3	4	5
26	<i>Selecting education techniques</i> which are convenient for teaching achievements related with Social Studies	1	2	3	4	5
27	<i>Selecting education methods which are</i> convenient for teaching achievements related with Social Studies	1	2	3	4	5
28	Selecting alternative /complementary and evaluation tools for evaluating achievements related with Social Studies	1	2	3	4	5
29	Preparing daily, annual and unit plan which is convenient to achievements	1	2	3	4	5

	related with Social Studies courses					
30	Preparing a course plan including the class/ intramural activities for Social	1	2	3	4	5
	Studies courses	1	2	5	4	5
31	Technologies which are convenient to teaching approaches/ strategies	1	2	3	4	5
32	Providing class management while using different education technologies	1	2	3	4	5
33	Using technologies which are convenient to different education model and	1	2	3	4	5
	theories	1	2	5	4	5
34	Using technologies which are convenient to different education strategies	1	2	3	4	5
35	Using technologies convenient to different education methods	1	2	3	4	5
36	Using technologies convenient to different education techniques	1	2	3	4	5
37	Using technologies which shall affect the education in positive manner	1	2	3	4	5
38	Using technologies which are convenient to classic-alternative measurement and evaluation approaches	1	2	3	4	5
39	Benefiting from technology by considering the individual differences of the		_	_		_
	students	1	2	3	4	5
40	Preparing daily, annual and unit annual plans in computer	1	2	3	4	5
41	Evaluating the conformance of a new technology to the education	1	2	3	4	5
42	Education technologies which are convenient to different learning content of the	-	-	2	4	~
	social studies courses	1	2	3	4	С
43	Selecting technologies which are convenient for enriching the content of social	1	2	3	4	5
	studies course	1	2	2	4	5
44	Using technologies which are developed by Course Tools Construction Centre	1	$\mathbf{r}$	2	4	5
	while teaching achievements of Social Studies course	1	2	5	4	5
45	Technologies which shall provide easier access to the targets/ achievements	1	2	з	4	5
	mentioned in the social studies course teaching plan	1	2	5	Ŧ	5
46	Using computer aided technologies which are convenient to different learning	1	2	3	4	5
47	content of social studies course					
47	Using tablet computer and smart board while teaching the different learning content of social studies courses	1	2	3	4	5
48	Developing projects and class activities including the education technologies in			•		-
-	social studies course	1	2	3	4	5
49	Integrating the social studies course content with appropriate technology and	1	2	2	4	5
	formation information	1	2	3	4	5
50	Selecting appropriate education approaches and contemporary education		_	_		_
	technologies which shall provide better teaching of social studies course content	1	2	3	4	5
51						
51	feaching courses by integrating the social studies learning content with my	1	2	3	4	5
52	To take the leading to my colleagues about integrating the social studies contend					
52	and formation and technological knowledge	1	2	3	4	5
53	Teaching a social studies subject by using appropriate technologies according to	1	0	2	4	F
	different education theories	1	2	3	4	2
54	To increase the value of the learning of my students through my formation and	1	2	2	Δ	5
	technological knowledge while teaching social studies subjects		2	5	+	5
55	To integrate my content, technology and formation knowledge related with social	1	2	3	4	5
	studies course	-	_			



## International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research (IJCER)

www.ijcer.net

## Analysis of TPACK Self-Efficacy Perception Levels of Social Studies Teachers and Pre-Service Teachers

**Ozkan Akman<sup>1</sup>, Cemal Guven<sup>1</sup>** <sup>1</sup> Necmettin Erbakan University

#### To cite this article:

Akman, O. & Guven, C. (2015). Analysis of TPACK self -efficacy perception levels of social studies teachers and pre - service teachers . *International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research*, 2(1), 1-12.

This article may be used for research, teaching, and private study purposes.

Any substantial or systematic reproduction, redistribution, reselling, loan, sub-licensing, systematic supply, or distribution in any form to anyone is expressly forbidden.

Authors alone are responsible for the contents of their articles. The journal owns the copyright of the articles.

The publisher shall not be liable for any loss, actions, claims, proceedings, demand, or costs or damages whatsoever or howsoever caused arising directly or indirectly in connection with or arising out of the use of the research material.



## Analysis of TPACK Self-Efficacy Perception Levels of Social Studies Teachers and Pre-Service Teachers

**Ozkan Akman<sup>1\*</sup>, Cemal Guven<sup>1</sup>** <sup>1</sup> Necmettin Erbakan University

#### Abstract

The purpose of this research is to examine the self-efficacy technological pedagogical and content knowledge (TPACK) of the social studies teachers and pre-service teachers. TPACK scale which is developed by the researcher in this respect is applied to 113 social studies teachers and 919 social studies pre-service teachers. The method of the research has been patterned by the monitoring method. In accordance with the obtained data, the consistency index values are found by calculation of structural equity path coefficients (path analysis). The data has been classified with SPSS program and has been analyzed with AMOS (Analyses of Moment Structures) program. In the study, while the relation level between other components and the technological knowledge teachers are seen in low and middle level, the relation level between the content knowledge and pedagogical knowledge has been found in higher level. Consequently, the necessity has occurred for the integration of the technological pedagogical and content knowledge of the social studies teachers and pre-service teachers.

Key words: TPACK, Social Studies, Technology, Pedagogy

#### Introduction

The rapid changes and developments in the knowledge and communication technologies in our day which we named as knowledge area reflect on the education. The individual has to use the technology efficiently for keeping up with this change and development (Kurt, 2013). Turkey which is not indifferent to this issue has started Increasing Opportunities in Education and Technology Reformation Movement (FATIH) project with the cooperation of Ministry of National Education and Ministry of Communication. The technological pedagogical and content knowledge perception which is presented by Mishra and Koehler (2006) in this respect has been united with technology and education has been tried to be more efficient by being integrated within education processes.

#### **Theoretical Framework: TPACK**

The components of technological, pedagogical and content knowledge consists of seven components as technological knowledge, pedagogical knowledge, content knowledge, technological pedagogical knowledge, technological content knowledge, content pedagogical knowledge and technological pedagogical content knowledge.

*Technology Knowledge (TK)*: Technology with the widest meaning has been identified as the changes made by the humans on the nature for their needs (Pearson & Young, 2002). When consider the technology in terms of education, Kurt (2013) has showed the efficient usage of the software tools like operating system, computer hardware, word processors, spreadsheet programs, web browser and e-mail in addition to book, chalk and blackboard. The technologies which are developed in present oblige the technology usage skills of the teachers (Koehler & Mishra, 2009). The constant change of the technology causes the changing of the nature of the technology (Mishra & Koehler, 2005; Yigit, 2014).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding Author: Ozkan Akman, akmanozkan@hotmail.com

*Content Knowledge (CK):* Mishra and Koehler (2006) have explained the content knowledge as expressing the knowledge which takes part in this content and the knowledge to be taught in this content. The content knowledge is the knowledge which is given to the student through courses. The knowledge content of the course which is taught shall be known in outstanding level in this respect (Kurt et al., 2013).

*Pedagogical Knowledge (PK):* Harris et al. (2009) has identified the pedagogical knowledge as the knowledge of the method of teaching a subject. Yelken et al. (2013) have explained the pedagogical knowledge as the subjects like learning, evaluation of learning, development practices, course planning, class management, regulation the class environment and intramural communication. Saltan (2013), identifies this subject as the course designs which are in conformity with the cognitive levels, development level, learning types and interest of the student groups during the course process. Incekapi (2013) considers pedagogical knowledge as knowing how to teach a course

*Pedagogical content knowledge (PCK):* PCK idea was first presented by Shulman (1986). Pedagogical content knowledge is related with the teaching method of a specific content, the types of the education strategies. PCK, is the education with different strategies, method and techniques for each subject (Mishra & Koehler, 2006). PCK is the combination of the pedagogy and content and the implementation of them. PCK is the knowledge of, showing how to teach any subject to the student in a specific discipline (Cox & Graham, 2009; Jimoiannis, 2010; Yigit, 2014). There is strong relation between the pedagogy and content knowledge. This relation shows us to teach each subject with different teaching strategies (Sahin, 2011).

*Technological and Content Knowledge (TCK):* TCK is the knowledge about the integration of technology with content. The teachers need to know the new technological applications as well as the subjects to be taught (Mishra & Koehler, 2006). Kılıç (2013), defines the technological content knowledge as a knowledge type which is associated with each other. The technological content knowledge is to know the conformity of the new technology to the teaching at the same time. We have to know which subject is in conformity with which technology (Kurt et al., 2013). The teacher must know to select the appropriate technology for enriching the content of the course because a technology which does not conform to its purpose is ineffective in reintegrating the terminal behavior.

*Technological and Pedagogical Knowledge (TPK):* TPK occur from the integration of the technology and formation knowledge (Mishra & Koehler, 2006). Kılıç (2013), expresses that there are different technologies used in teaching and learning environment and to know their specialities. This knowledge can also be expressed as the usage method of the technology in teaching environment (Yurdakul & Odabası, 2013). A teacher can have technological knowledge but we cannot consider education efficiency in efficient level when he cannot integrate this with the pedagogical knowledge in education environment. One of the reasons of the failure of many educations given with technology does not know how to give technology with pedagogy (Bozkurt et al., 2013).

*Technological, Pedagogical and Content Knowledge (TPACK):* TPACK is the knowledge which consists of the components of technology, pedagogy and content knowledge. This knowledge is different from the general pedagogical knowledge which is used by the teacher, from the technology which needs a specific expertise, discipline. TPACK establishes the base of a good teaching with technology (Mishra & Koehler, 2006). As mentioned in Figure 1, TPACK is an integration which is formed by the technology pedagogy and content knowledge. However TPACK shall be considered as a situation which is used in the education environment at the same time. In other words, to teach a subject, a course by using technology, does mean that the teacher uses TPACK (Kurt, 2013). Technology pedagogy and content knowledge shall not be given as independent from each other but shall be given as integration (Sahin, 2011).



Figure 1. Technological, Pedagogical and Content Knowledge Components

This study is made for determining TPAB levels of teachers and pre-service teachers of social studies. As different from other studies, it is a study which is specific for social sciences content. The scale which is developed by the researcher is prepared only for determining the TPACK level of the teachers and pre-service teachers of social studies. Answers are searched for the below questions in this respect.

- 1. What kind of a relation are there between the perception of the social studies teachers to technological, pedagogical and content knowledge components?
- 2. What kind of a relation are there between the perception of the social studies pre-service teachers to technological, pedagogical and content knowledge components?

#### Method

This section of the research mentions the model of the research, nature/sample, sampling type, data collection tools, analysis and commenting the data.

#### Model of the research

By using TPACK model in this research, it is aimed to examine the technological pedagogical and content knowledge level of the pre-service teachers of social studies in faculty of education and social studies teachers working in secondary schools. This study is patterned by using monitoring model.

#### **Participants**

Sampling.1 (Application 1 - pre-service teachers): This study is carried out in all regions of our country. The nature of the pre-service teachers is formed by the fourth grade students in social studies education in whole faculty of education in our country. Our sampling group consists of 919 pre-service teachers in total who are selected by the nature based sampling method.

#### 4 Akman & Guven

*Sampling.2 (Application 2 - teachers):* the nature of the teacher consists of the social studies teachers working within the body of Konya Provincial National Education Directorate. The sampling of the research is carried out by 113 teachers who are selected from this nature.

#### **Data Collection Tools**

Accordingly, seven sizes have been determined in the scale which is issued by the researcher (Akman, 2014; Akman & Guven, 2015). These are; size of technological knowledge (TK), pedagogical knowledge size (PK), size of content knowledge (CK), size of pedagogical and content knowledge (PCK), size of technological and pedagogical knowledge (TPK), size of technological and content knowledge (TCK), size of technological, pedagogical and content knowledge (TPACK).

The scale which is issued has been formed in the type of five points Likert scale. 1-2-3-4-5 numbers are located across the articles of the scales. Respectively the numbers are given the meaning as; I do not know, I know in low level, I know in middle level, I know in good level, I know in very good level. Validity and reliability studies are made for the obtained data. According to the reliability studies made, the reliability coefficient of Alpha Cronbach of the scale has been found as 0.977. Affirmative factor analyses are made on the obtained data.

*Data Collection and Application:* The data of the study is collected from the teachers and pre-service teachers. The scale which is distributed for being applied to the teachers is 230 and the collected scale is 120. However, some teachers have marked the scale without reading so seven of them are deducted and the data collected from 113 teachers is taken as a basis. The feedback rate in pre-service teachers is seventy percent (distributed scale: 1450; collected: 1113). However, some teachers have marked the scale without reading so 919 of them are taken to evaluation.

#### **Data Analysis**

According to results, the consistency index values are found by calculation of structural equity path coefficients (path analysis). The data has been classified with SPSS program and has been analysed with AMOS (Analyses of Moment Structures) program. In this study, structural equity model is used in order to determine factors and their relations and it is found how those relations are conformed with real data.

There are some index types which are confronted regularly in literature. These are:  $X^2/df$ , CFI, RMSEA, GFI, AGFI, NFI, NNFI, SRMR indexes (Karademir & Erten, 2013; Karademir & Erten, 2014).

Index Types	$\frac{\gamma^2}{df}$	<u>RMR</u>	<u>GFI</u>	<u>CFI</u>	<u>RMSEA</u>
Index Values	1,398	0,038	0,853	0,918	0,050
Perfect fit	< 3	$0 \le RMR \le 0.05$	0,95≤GFI≤1	$0,97 \le CFI \le 1$	$0 \le \text{RMSEA} \le 0,05$
Acceptable fit	< 5	0,05 ≤ RMR ≤ 0,10	0,90≤GFI≤0,95 veya 0,80≤GFI≤0,89	0,90≤CFI≤0,95 veya 0,80≤GFI≤0,89	$0,05 \le \text{RMSEA} \le 0,10$

 Table 1.Criterion references for fit indices of linear factor analysis

#### Results

In this section of the research, structural equity model outputs are mentioned for understanding the relation level between teachers and pre-service teachers and TPACK components.



Figure 1. Findings showing the relation between the structural equity model and technological pedagogical content knowledge of the teachers

Fit Index Values: X2/df: 0.249, N: 113, RMSEA: 0.056, RMR: 0.149, GFI: 0.997, AGFI: 0.982, NFI: 0.998

The structural equation model outputs made with the teacher data related with TPACK are mentioned in Figure 1. Accordingly; it is determined that the adaptive value is in the acceptable level. Accordingly; there is medium level relation between the TK and CK (r=0.50), a medium level relation between TK and PK (r=0.48), there is high level relation between PK and CK (r=0.73). There is no direct relation between TPK and CK but there is low level direct relation between TPK and CK ( $\beta$ =0.33). There is very low relation between TK and TPK (B=0.19), low level relation between PK and TPK (B=0.38). The explanation percentage of TPK relation between these two factors is  $R^2=0.65$ . So 65 % of the TPK perception is explained by the TK and PK. There is a low level relation between PK and PCK ( $\beta$ =0.28). A medium level relation is detected between CK and PCK ( $\beta$ =0.44). The explanation percentage of PCK between these two factors is R<sup>2</sup>= 0.67. So 67 % of the PCK perception is explained by the PK and CK. There is a low level relation between the TK and TCK ( $\beta$ =0.30) and a higher relation is detected between TK and TCK ( $\beta$ =0.44). The explanation percentage of TCK between these two factors is  $R^2=0.59$ . So 59 % of the TCK perception is explained by the TK and CK. There is a low level relation between TPK and CK ( $\beta$ =0.29), there is a very low relation between PCK and TPACK ( $\beta$ =0.08) and there is medium relation between TCK and TPACK ( $\beta$ =0.45). The explanation percentage of TPACK between these three factors is  $R^2$ =0.76. So 76 % of the TPACK perception is explained by these three factors. In figure 2, structural equity model and findings related with the pre-service teachers are mentioned.



Figure 2. Findings showing the relation between the components of technological pedagogical content knowledge of pre-service teachers with structural equity model.

Fit Index Values: X2/df: 0.922, N: 919, RMSEA: 0.054, RMR: 0.84, GFI: 0.999, AGFI: 0.992, NFI: 1.00

The structural equation modelling outputs made with pre-service teachers related with TPACK are mentioned in figure 2. Accordingly it is detected that the adaptive values are in the acceptable level. Accordingly there is low level relation between TK and CK (r=0.30), there is higher relation between TK and PK (r=0.33) and there is a higher relation between PK and CK (r=0.65) No direct relation is seen between TK, PK, CK and TPACK. There is very low relation between TK and TPK ( $\beta$ =0.18), there is a higher relation between PK and TPK ( $\beta$ =0.39). The explanation percentage of TPK relation between these two factors is R<sup>2</sup>=0.59. So 59 % of the TPK perception is explained by the TK and PK. There is a low level relation between PK and PCK is ( $\beta$ =0.27). A higher relation is detected between CK and PCK ( $\beta$ =0.54). The explanation percentage of PCK between these two factors is explained by the PCK. There is a medium relation between CK and TCK ( $\beta$ =0.41) and there is a lower relation between TK and TCK ( $\beta$ =0.36). The explanation percentage of TCK of these two factors are R<sup>2</sup>=0.60. So 60 % of the TCK perception is explained by the TCK. There is a lower relation between TK and TCK ( $\beta$ =0.40). The explanation percentage of TCK of these two factors are R<sup>2</sup>=0.66. So 66 % of the TPACK perception is explained by these three factors.

#### **Discussion and Conclusion**

#### Results related with pre-service teachers

In the structural equity model analysis of the pre-service teachers, the relation level of technology with other components of TPACK is low with pedagogy and content knowledge. However, it is so challenging that the pre-service teachers, who will start working in Ministry of National Education, should have these types of skills during their bachelor education but they do not have these skills. Similar result to this situation shows parallelism to a study made by Celik et al. (2014). The technology which the teachers need for integrating the technology in parallel with the development of technology from past to present has been built on the knowledge (Hofer & Swan, 2008; Koehler, Mishra & Yahya, 2007; Landry, 2010). Likewise, it has been mentioned that the

technological knowledge of the teachers shall be strengthened for providing the efficiency and persistency of the learning environment with technology (Sahin, 2011; Selim, Tatar & Oz, 2009; Schmidt et al., 2009; Kabakci Yurdakul et al., 2012). The relation level between the TK and PK of the pre-service teachers in structural equity modelling is low (r=0.33) while the relation level between CK and PK is higher (r=0.65). When we consider the results, we can see that the relation level between the TK and PK is low. Accordingly the technology must be supported together with the pedagogical perceptions in education (Hughes, 2005; Koehler, Mishra & Yahya, 2007; Erdogan & Sahin, 2010; Lux, Bangert, & Whittier, 2011). There is low relation between the CK and TK (r=0.30) and the relation level between CK and PK is higher (r=0.65). There is no direct relation with the CK and TPACK but there is a relation between PCK, TPK and PCK. It is mentioned in the results of various studies that the CK of the pre-service teachers shall be supported with the educations they take and the following skills they gain (Koehler & Mishra, 2005; Koehler & Mishra, 2008; Koehler & Mishra, 2009; Mishra & Koehler, 2006; Mishra & Koehler, 2008; Schmidt et al., 2009). The relation level between PCK and TPACK is lower  $(\beta=0.27)$ . The situation includes contrast in the research made by Celik et al. (2014). Accordingly the relation level between PCK and PK is higher and the relation level between PCK and CK is lower. There is a direct relation between the PK and CK on PCK. When the researches made on the teacher education is examined, the PK is ignored although the PCK which the teachers and pre-service teachers should have must be within an in dissociable structure (Shulman, 1986). However many studies in the last years are built on the PCK (Shulman, 1986). It has been discussed that the PK and CK shall be integrated with each other (Mishra and Koehler, 2006), and the learning strategies shall be learned for being a better teacher (Shulman, 1986). The level of the relation between TPK and TK is lower ( $\beta$ =0.18). The level of relation between TPK and PK has medium level ( $\beta$ =0.39). The relation level between TPK and TPACK is ( $\beta$ =0.21). The results of the study made by Celik et al. (2014) show parallelism. However there is no direct relation between TPK and TPACK in this study. In the different studies, there is also no direct relation between TPK and TPACK (Lux, 2010).

There is medium level between TCK and TK ( $\beta$ =0.36), there is a medium relation between TCK and CK ( $\beta$ =0.41), there is a medium relation between TCK and TPACK ( $\beta$ =0.49). There is a low relation between TCK and TK, the relation between TCK and CK is very low in the study made by Celik et al. (2014). The relation between TCK and TPACK shows parallelism with our study. The usage of content and technology together, is more important than using the technology by itself (Kuşkaya-Mumcu, Haslaman, & Usluel, 2008; Mishra & Koehler, 2008; Sahin, 2011). There is no direct relation between TPACK and TK, PK and CK. There is a low level relation with TPK ( $\beta$ =0.21), low relation with PCK ( $\beta$ =0.29), medium relation level with TCK. In the study developed by Schmidt et al. (2009), the measurement of TPACK is aimed and similar results have been achieved. In another study made by Kim et al. (2009) on pre-service teachers, it is observed that TK, PK and CK which are the components of TPACK are not efficient adequately.

#### **Results related with teachers**

According to the structural equity model, the relation between TK and PK is in medium level (r=0.48), the relation with CK is in medium level ( $\beta$ =0.50), the relation with TCK is in medium level ( $\beta$ =0.44) and the relation with TPK is in low level ( $\beta$ =0.19). In the study made by Archambault and Crippen (2009) for measuring the competence of the teachers in terms of TPACK, it is seen that the TK of the teachers is in medium level however their TCK is in low level. In the study of Schmidt et al. (2009), aimed at the course experiences of the teachers, it is observed that their TPACK increases when the courses are organized with technologies approaches for teachers. There is a medium level between PK and TK of the teachers (r=0.48) and there is a high relation between PK and CK (r=0.73). There is low relation between PK and TPK ( $\beta$ =0.38) and there is a medium level relation between PCK ( $\beta$ =0.44). There is no direct relation between TPACK. In the study made by Archambault and Crippen (2009), there is weak relation between TK and PK forming TPACK however the relation between PK and CK is high.

This study shows parallelism with our study. According to the results of the structural equity modelling; there is a medium relation between CK and TK (r=0.50), a high level between PK (r=0.73). There is a low level relation between CK and TPK ( $\beta$ =0.28), a medium level relation between PCK ( $\beta$ =0.44), low level relation between TCK ( $\beta$ =0.30), there is a direct relation between TPACK ( $\beta$ =0.12). When other researchers are examined, it is observed that in case the CK is low, the other content types shall be affected negatively and therefore the teachers shall have a healthy CK level (Cavanagh & Koehler, 2013; Kuşkaya-Mumcu, Haşlaman, & Usluel, 2008; Demir & Bozkurt, 2011). It is seen that TPACK has a direct relation with CK, PCK, TPK and TCK, TK and PK has no direct relation. In the researches made in the different education field, same results have been achieved (Bilgin, Tatar, & Ay, 2012). Schmidt et al. (2009) have concluded that the in service courses provided to the teachers increase TPACK skills of the teachers.

#### Suggestions

The developments in science and technology have changed the education technologies as well as the communal life. Therefore the pre-service teachers, who shall be appointed to this sacred profession in the future, shall adopt and comprehend this change. They shall not limit themselves only with the bachelor courses in the faculty in terms of professional development but also; they shall follow the academic and scientific activities for improving themselves.

The teachers shall keep their pedagogical and technological knowledge updated during learning and teaching process. They shall guide the students in accessing the right information in digital sources (internet, CD, etc) they shall develop themselves in technology integration by using their expertise's in social sciences.

#### Acknowledgements

This paper is resulted from the doctoral study of the first author.

#### References

- Akman, O. (2014). Sosyal Bilgiler Öğretmen ve Öğretmen Adaylarının Teknolojik Pedagojik ve Alan Bilgisi Öz-Yeterlik Algı Düzeylerinin Çok Yönlü İncelenmesi (Yayınlanmış doktora tezi). Necmettin Erbakan Üniversitesi, Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Konya.
- Akman, O., & Guven, C. (2015). TPACK Survey Development Study for Social Sciences Teachers and Teacher Candidates. International Journal of Research in Education and Science (IJRES), 1(1), 1-10.
- Archambault, L., & Crippen, K. (2009). Examining TPACK Among K-12 Online Distance Educators in the United States. Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education, 9(1), 71-88.
- Bilgin, I., Tatar, E., & Ay, Y. (2012). Sınıf Öğretmeni Adaylarının Teknolojiye Karşı Tutumlarının Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi (TPAB)'ne Katkısının Incelenmesi. X. Ulusal Fen Bilimleri ve Matematik Eğitimi Kongresi Bildiriler Kitabı, 125.
- Bozkurt, A., Koc, Y., ve Demir, S. (2013). PAB Çerçevesinde Matematik Öğretimine Bir Teknoloji Entegrasyon Modeli ve Uygulama Örneği (Editörler: Tuğba Yanpar Yelken, Hatice Sancar Tokmak, Sinan Özgelen Ve Lütfi İncekapı).Fen Ve Matematik Eğitiminde Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi Temelli Öğretim Tasarımı. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık. 183-201.
- Cavanagh, R. F. & Koehler, M. J. (2013). A Turn toward Specifying Validity Criteria in The Measurement of Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK). Journal of Research on Technology in Education, 46(2), 129-148.
- Celik, I., Sahin, I., & Akturk, A.O. (2014). Analysis of the Relations Among the Components of Technological Pedagogical and Content Knowledge (TPACK): A Structural Equation Model for TPACK. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, *51*(1).
- Cox, S., & Graham, C. R. (2009). Using An Elaborated Model of the TPACK Framework to Analyze and Depict Teacher Knowledge. *TechTrends*, 53(5), 60-71.
- Demir, S., & Bozkurt, A. (2011). Primary Mathematics Teachers' Views About Their Competencies Concerning the Integration of Technology. *Elementary Education Online*, 10(3), 850-860.
- Erdogan, A., & Sahin, I. (2010). Relationship Between Math Teacher Candidates' Technological Pedagogical and Content Knowledge (TPACK) and Achievement Levels. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 2(2), 2707-2711.
- Harris, J., Mishra, P., & Koehler, M. (2009). Teachers' Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge and Learning Activity Types: Curriculum-based technology integration reframed. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 41(4), 393-416.
- Hofer, M., & Swan, K. O. (2008). Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge in Action: A Case Study of a Middle School Digital Documentary Project. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 41(2), 179-200.
- İncikapı, L. (2013). TPAB-Temelli 'Teknolojiyle Öğretim'dersi: Matematik Öğretimi İçin Bilgisayar Oyunu Tasarlama. (Editörler: Tuğba Yanpar Yelken, Hatice Sancar Tokmak, Sinan Özgelen Ve Lütfi İncekapı).Fen Ve Matematik Eğitiminde Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi Temelli Öğretim Tasarımı. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık. 221-238
- Jimoyiannis, A. (2010). Developing a Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge Framework for Science Education: Implications of a Teacher Trainers' Preparation Program. In Proceedings of Informing Science & IT Education Conference (InSITE) (Vol. 597, p. 607).

- Kabakci Yurdakul, I., Odabasi, H. F., Kilicer, K., Coklar, A. N., Birinci, G., & Kurt, A. A. (2012). The Development, Validity and Reliability of TPACK-deep: A Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge Scale. *Computers & Education*,58(3), 964-977.
- Karademir, E. (2013). Öğretmen ve Öğretmen Adaylarının Fen ve Teknoloji Dersi Kapsamında Okul Dışı Öğrenme Etkinliklerini Gerçekleştirme Amaçlarının Planlanmış Davranış Teorisi Yoluyla Belirlenmesi. (Yayınlanmamış doktora tezi). Hacettepe Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, Ankara.
- Karademir, E. & Erten, S. (2014). Determining the Factors that Affect the Objectives of Pre-Service Science Teachers to Perform Outdoor Science Activities. International Journal of Education in Mathematics, Science and Technology, 1(4), 270-293.
- Kılıç, Ç. (2013). Matematik Öğretiminde TPAB'ni Geliştirmeye Yönelik Uygulamalar: Ders Tasarımında Eğitimsel Yazılımlar (Editörler: Tuğba Yanpar Yelken, Hatice Sancar Tokmak, Sinan Özgelen Ve Lütfi İncekapı).Fen Ve Matematik Eğitiminde Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi Temelli Öğretim Tasarımı. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık. 202-220.
- Kim, C., Kim, M.K., Lee, C., Spector, J.M., & De Meester, K. (2013). Teacher beliefs and technology integration. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 29, 76-85.
- Koehler, M.J., & Mishra, P. (2009). What is Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK). *Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education*, 9(1), 60-70.
- Koehler, M. J. & Mishra, P. (2005). What Happens When Teachers Design Educational Technology? The Development of Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge. *Journal Of Educational Computing Research*, 32(2), 131-152.
- Koehler, M. J., Mishra, P., & Yahya, K. (2007). Tracing the Development of Teacher Knowledge in a Design Seminar: Integrating Content, Pedagogy and Technology. Computers & *Education*, 49, 740-762.
- Kurt, A. A., Abdullah, K. U. Z. U., Dursun, O. O., Güllepinar, F., & Gültekin, M. (2013). Fatih Projesinin Pilot Uygulama Sürecinin Değerlendirilmesi: Öğretmen Görüşleri. *Journal Of Instructional Technologies & Teacher Education*, 2(1).
- Kurt, A. A. (2013). Eğitimde Teknoloji Entegrasyonuna Kavramsal Ve Kuramsal Bakış. (Editör: Işıl Kabakçı Yurdakul). Teknopedagojik Eğitime Dayalı Öğretim Teknolojileri Ve Materyal Tasarımı. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık. 1-38
- Kuskaya-Mumcu, F., Haslaman, T., & Usluel, Y.K. (2008). Teknolojik Pedagojik İçerik Bilgisi Modeli Çerçevesinde Etkili Teknoloji Entegrasyonunun Göstergeleri. *International Educational Technology Conference (IECT), 6-8 Mayıs*,
- Landry, G. A. (2010). Creating and Validating an Instrument to Measure Middle School Mathematics Teachers' Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK). University of Tennessee, Knoxville.
- Lux, N. J., Bangert, A. W., & Whittier, D. B. (2011). The Development of an Instrument to Assess Preservice Teacher's Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 45(4), 415-431.
- Mishra, P. & Koehler, M. (2006). Technological pedagogical content knowledge: A framework for teacher knowledge. *The Teachers College Record*, *108*(6), 1017-1054.
- Pearson, G., & Young, A. T. (Eds.). (2002). *Technically Speaking:: Why All Americans Need to Know More About Technology*. National Academies Press.
- Sahin, I. (2011). Development of Survey of Technological Pedagogical and Content Knowledge (TPACK). *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 10(1), 97-105.
- Saltan, F. (2013). Teknoloji Destekli Örnek Olaya Dayalı Öğretim Yöntemi Uygulanan TPAB-Temelli Fen Öğretimi: Öğretim Teknolojileri ve Materyal Tasarımı Dersi(Editörler: Tuğba Yanpar Yelken, Hatice Sancar Tokmak, Sinan Özgelen ve Lütfi İncekapı).Fen ve Matematik Eğitiminde Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi Temelli Öğretim Tasarımı. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık. 165-182.
- Schmidt, D. A., Baran, E., Thompson, A. D., Mishra, P., Koehler, M. J., & Shin, T. S. (2009). Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK) The Development and Validation of an Assessment Instrument for Preservice Teachers. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 42(2), 123-149.
- Selim, Y., Tatar, E., & Öz, R. (2009). Model, T. Matematik Öğretmen Adaylarının Hazırladıkları Öğretim Materyallerinin Tömab Modeli İle İncelenmesi An Investigation Of Instructional Materials Prepared By Mathematics Preservice Teachers On. *ErzincanÜniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Dergisi*, 2(2), 239-251.
- Shulman, L. S. (1987). Those Who Understand: Knowledge Growth in Teaching. Educational Researcher, 15(2), 4-14.
- Yelken, T.Y, Tokmak, H.S, Özgelen, S. & İncikapı, L. (2013). Teknolojik- Pedagojik- Alan Bilgisi (TPAB) Çerçevesi ve Bu Çerçevenin Milli Eğitim Bakanlığı Fen ve Matematik Eğitimi Programındaki Yeri. (Editörler: Tuğba Yanpar Yelken, Hatice Sancar Tokmak, Sinan Özgelen ve Lütfi İncekapı).Fen ve Matematik Eğitiminde Teknolojik Pedagojik Alan Bilgisi Temelli Öğretim Tasarımı. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık. 1-12.

- Yigit, M. (2014). A Review of the Literature: How Pre-Service Mathematics Teachers Develop Their Technological, Pedagogical, and Content Knowledge. International Journal of Education in Mathematics, Science and Technology, 2(1), 26-35.
  Yurdakul, I. K., & Odabaşı H. F. (2013). Teknopedagojik Eğitim Modeli. (Editör: Işıl Kabakçı Yurdakul).
- Yurdakul, I. K., & Odabaşı H. F. (2013). Teknopedagojik Eğitim Modeli. (Editör: Işıl Kabakçı Yurdakul). Teknopedagojik Eğitime Dayalı Öğretim Teknolojileri Ve Materyal Tasarımı. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık. 39-70

#### Appendix 1: The Scale of TPACK

#### **Dear Social Studies Teacher and Pre-Service Teacher**

This survey is issued for examining the relation between technology, pedagogy and content knowledge of the social studies teacher and pre-service teachers. Your answers in the Survey shall be used for research and your identification and answers shall be definitely kept secret. For this reason, do not hesitate to answer intimately. The numbers at the right side of the page express these: (1) I do not know, (2) I know in low level, (3) I know in middle level, (4) I know in good level, (5) I know in very good level

**ITEMS OF TPACK SURVEY** 

1	Using Office programs (Like Word, Excel, and Powerpoint)	1	2	3	4	5
2	Communicating through Internet (E-mail, Skype)	1	2	3	4	5
3	Using data (saving to Flash Memory, CD, DVD)	1	2	3	4	5
4	Using printer, digital camera and Scanner	1	2	3	4	5
5	Using the programs of concept maps, drawing graphics (Inspration, Excel etc.)	1	2	3	4	5
6	Developing daily, annual and unit plan	1	2	3	4	5
7	Developing classic (multiple choice test, True-False Test, open ended Question etc) and complementary (Control List, Valuation Scale, Gradational Grading Key, Self-Efficacy Form, Peer Assessment Form etc) measurement tools	1	2	3	4	5
8	Evaluating the performance of the teacher with classic and alternative (complementary) measuring tools	1	2	3	4	5
9	Implementing the different teaching strategies (Presentation Strategy, <i>Invention Strategy, Research-Analysing Strategy etc.</i> )	1	2	3	4	5
10	Implementing different methods (Plain Expression, Case Study, Problem Based Learning, Project based Learning etc.)	1	2	3	4	5
11	Implementing different teaching techniques (Brain Storming, Six Thinking Hats, Demonstration, Metaphor etc.)	1	2	3	4	5
12	Learning theory and hypothesis ( Structuralist Learning, Multiple Intelligence Theory, Project Based Education etc.)	1	2	3	4	5
13	How the class management shall be organized and continued in Social Sciences course	1	2	3	4	5
14	Content Knowledge related with Individual and Society learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
15	Content Knowledge related with Culture and Heritage learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
16	Content Knowledge related with Humans, Places and Environment learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
17	Content Knowledge related with Production, Distribution, Consumption learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
18	Content Knowledge related with Time, Consistency and Alteration learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
19	Content Knowledge related with Science, Technology and Society learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
20	Content Knowledge related with Groups, Institutions and Social Organizations learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
21	Content Knowledge related with Power, Management and Society learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
22	Content Knowledge related with Global Connections learning domain	1	2	3	4	5
23	Current releases in Social Sciences field (Releases and books)	1	2	3	4	5
24	Selecting teaching strategies which are convenient to achievements related with Social Studies	1	2	3	4	5
25	Selecting education models which are convenient to achievements related with Social Studies	1	2	3	4	5
26	<i>Selecting education techniques</i> which are convenient for teaching achievements related with Social Studies	1	2	3	4	5
27	<i>Selecting education methods which are</i> convenient for teaching achievements related with Social Studies	1	2	3	4	5
28	Selecting alternative /complementary and evaluation tools for evaluating achievements related with Social Studies	1	2	3	4	5
29	Preparing daily, annual and unit plan which is convenient to achievements	1	2	3	4	5

	related with Social Studies courses					
30	Preparing a course plan including the class/ intramural activities for Social	1	2	3	4	5
	Studies courses	1	2	5	4	5
31	Technologies which are convenient to teaching approaches/ strategies	1	2	3	4	5
32	Providing class management while using different education technologies	1	2	3	4	5
33	Using technologies which are convenient to different education model and	1	2	3	4	5
	theories	1	2	5	4	5
34	Using technologies which are convenient to different education strategies	1	2	3	4	5
35	Using technologies convenient to different education methods	1	2	3	4	5
36	Using technologies convenient to different education techniques	1	2	3	4	5
37	Using technologies which shall affect the education in positive manner	1	2	3	4	5
38	Using technologies which are convenient to classic-alternative measurement and evaluation approaches	1	2	3	4	5
39	Benefiting from technology by considering the individual differences of the		_	_		_
	students	1	2	3	4	5
40	Preparing daily, annual and unit annual plans in computer	1	2	3	4	5
41	Evaluating the conformance of a new technology to the education	1	2	3	4	5
42	Education technologies which are convenient to different learning content of the	-	-	2	4	~
	social studies courses	1	2	3	4	С
43	Selecting technologies which are convenient for enriching the content of social	1	2	3	4	5
	studies course	1	2	2	4	5
44	Using technologies which are developed by Course Tools Construction Centre	1	$\mathbf{r}$	2	4	5
	while teaching achievements of Social Studies course	1	2	5	4	5
45	Technologies which shall provide easier access to the targets/ achievements	1	2	з	4	5
	mentioned in the social studies course teaching plan	1	2	5	Ŧ	5
46	Using computer aided technologies which are convenient to different learning	1	2	3	4	5
47	content of social studies course					
47	Using tablet computer and smart board while teaching the different learning content of social studies courses	1	2	3	4	5
48	Developing projects and class activities including the education technologies in			•		-
-	social studies course	1	2	3	4	5
49	Integrating the social studies course content with appropriate technology and	1	2	2	4	5
	formation information	1	2	3	4	5
50	Selecting appropriate education approaches and contemporary education		_	_		_
	technologies which shall provide better teaching of social studies course content	1	2	3	4	5
51						
51	feaching courses by integrating the social studies learning content with my	1	2	3	4	5
52	To take the leading to my colleagues about integrating the social studies contend					
52	and formation and technological knowledge	1	2	3	4	5
53	Teaching a social studies subject by using appropriate technologies according to	1	0	2	4	F
	different education theories	1	2	3	4	2
54	To increase the value of the learning of my students through my formation and	1	2	2	Δ	5
	technological knowledge while teaching social studies subjects		2	5	+	5
55	To integrate my content, technology and formation knowledge related with social	1	2	3	4	5
	studies course	-	_			



## International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research (IJCER)

www.ijcer.net

The Development of Craft and Technology Education Curriculums and Students' Attitudes towards Technology in Finland, Estonia and Iceland

**Ossi Autio<sup>1</sup>**, **Mart Soobik<sup>2</sup>**, **Gisli Thorsteinsson<sup>3</sup>**, **Brynjar Olafsson<sup>3</sup>** <sup>1</sup> University of Helsinki

<sup>2</sup> University of Tallinn

<sup>3</sup> University of Iceland

#### To cite this article:

Autio, O., Soobik, M., Thorsteinsson, G., & Olafsson, B. (2015). The development of craft and technology education curriculums and students' attitudes towards technology in finland, estonia and iceland. *International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research*, 2(1), 22-34.

This article may be used for research, teaching, and private study purposes.

Any substantial or systematic reproduction, redistribution, reselling, loan, sub-licensing, systematic supply, or distribution in any form to anyone is expressly forbidden.

Authors alone are responsible for the contents of their articles. The journal owns the copyright of the articles.

The publisher shall not be liable for any loss, actions, claims, proceedings, demand, or costs or damages whatsoever or howsoever caused arising directly or indirectly in connection with or arising out of the use of the research material.



#### ISSN: 2148-3868

### The Development of Craft and Technology Education Curriculums and Students' Attitudes towards Technology in Finland, Estonia and Iceland

Ossi Autio<sup>1\*</sup>, Mart Soobik<sup>2</sup>, Gisli Thorsteinsson<sup>3</sup>, Brynjar Olafsson<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Helsinki <sup>2</sup> University of Tallinn <sup>3</sup> University of Iceland

#### Abstract

The research is based on a comparative study of craft and technology education curriculums and students' attitudes towards craft and technology in Finland, Estonia and Iceland. The study was undertaken in the Helsinki University, University of Tallinn and University of Iceland during years 2012-2013. In order to examine and compare the origins of craft education in Finland, Estonia and Iceland a literature review was completed. In addition, a quantitative survey was subsequently distributed to 658 school students in Finland, Estonia and Iceland. It consisted of 14 questions, which aimed to ascertain students' attitudes towards craft and technology. The survey showed substantial differences in students' attitudes towards craft and technology education in the three countries: these differences may be explained by differences in the national curriculums, the different pedagogical traditions and cultural differences in the field of technology. However, for deeper understanding, the qualitative findings need to be examined further with different research methods.

Key words: Technology education, Craft education Attitudes towards technology, National curriculum

#### Introduction

Compulsory education in Finland is intended for students from 7 to 15 years old. In addition, all 6 year olds are entitled to pre-school education for one year, prior to starting basic education. Primary school teachers teach students aged 7 to 13 years old (grades 1-6), while specialist teachers teach children aged 13 to 15 years old (grades 7-9). Secondary schools educate students aged 16 -19 years and these schools are divided into general education (upper secondary schools) and vocational education (vocational schools). Upper secondary schools prepare students mainly for higher education, while vocational schools instruct students for specialised vocational training (Framework Curriculum Guidelines, 2004).

The general aim of Finnish technology education is to increase students' self-esteem by developing their skills through enjoyable craft activities; it also aims to increase students' understanding of the various manufacturing processes and the use of different materials in craft. Furthermore, the subject aims to encourage students to make their own decisions in designing, allowing them to assess their ideas and products. Students' practical work is product orientated and based on experimentation, in accordance with the development of their personality. The role of the teacher is to guide students' work in a systematic manner. They must encourage pupils' independence, the growth of their creative skills through problem-based learning and the development of technical literacy. In addition, gender issues are important throughout the whole curriculum (Framework Curriculum Guidelines, 2004).

In Estonia, school attendance is mandatory for all children from age 7 until the pupil turns 17. In basic school, the allocated time for covering the curriculum is nine years. The stages of study in basic school are: 1st stage of study – grades 1 to 3; 2nd stage of study – grades 4 to 6; 3rd stage of study – grades 7 to 9. The standard period of study in upper secondary school is three years (Põhikooli- ja gümnaasiumiseadus, 2010). After graduating basic school, students can continue their studies in a vocational school. After obtaining secondary education in a vocational school or in an upper secondary school, students can move on to the higher education level, opting either for an institution of professional higher education or a university (Eesti Vabariigi haridusseadus, 1992).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding Author: Ossi Autio, ossi.autio@helsinki.fi

Subjects taught in the domain of technology in Estonia enable students to acquire the mentality, ideals, and values inherent to the contemporary society. They learn to understand the options they have in solving tasks or creating new products; find and combine various environmentally sustainable techniques. In lessons, students study and analyse phenomena and situations, as well as use various sources of information, integrate creative thinking and manual activity. As a part of the study process, students generate ideas, plan, model, and prepare objects/products and learn how to present these. Students' initiative, entrepreneurial spirit, and creativity are supported and they learn to appreciate an economic and healthy life style. Learning takes place in a positive environment, where students' diligence and development are recognized in every way. Teaching develops their skills in working and cooperating, as well as their critical thinking and the ability to analyse and evaluate. (Ainevaldkond "Tehnoloogia", 2011)

There are four levels of education in Iceland: playschool, compulsory school, upper secondary school and higher education (this is similar to the educational systems in other Nordic countries). Education in Iceland is mandatory for children aged 6–16 and is organised into a single, structured system; i.e., primary and lower secondary education are both part of the same school level and are generally housed within the same school. Upper secondary education (aged 16-20 years) is not compulsory, but anyone who has completed compulsory education has a right to study at this level. Upper secondary schools offer both general academic studies and vocational training. General academic studies are of four-years' duration, leading to a matriculation examination, while the length of vocational courses varies: they may last from one semester to ten semesters; the four-year courses are most prevalent (The Icelandic Ministry of Education, 2007).

The present national curriculum for the subject of craft and technology in Iceland places an emphasis on individual-based learning. It also gives teachers the freedom to run an independent curriculum in school, which is based on the national curriculum. As in Finland, the subject is product based and students learn via traditional craft activities. Students' work is based on craft tradition rather than technology; however, innovation and idea generation are an important part of the Icelandic curriculum. There are also the aims of developing students' manual skills, instructing them in the manufacturing processes and training them to organise their own work. The national curriculum also incorporates outdoor education, working with green wood and sustainable design (Olafsson & Thorsteinsson, 2010).

Thus, as seen above, there are many similarities between the national curriculums in Finland, Estonia and Iceland; however there are also some differences. In the following sections, the authors will attempt to highlight these differences in the curriculum level and later will try to ascertain whether there are any differences in practical level between the three countries, with regards to students' attitudes towards craft and technology.

Main part of the study was to recognise the origin of craft education in Finland, Estonia and Iceland to identify fundamental changes during the development of the curriculums. This was done by a literature review based on the different curriculums. The quantitative part of the study was, however, to find any differences in students' attitudes towards craft and technology in Finland, Estonia and Iceland. The research questions were:

- 1. What are the origins of craft education in Finland, Estonia and Iceland and how have the curriculums developed over the years?
- 2. Are there differences in students' attitudes towards craft and technology in Finland, Estonia and Iceland?

#### The origin of pedagogical craft and technology education

The Finnish educationalist Gygnaeus (1810-1888) founded public schools in Finland in 1866. At this time, Gygnaeus also introduced craft as a pedagogically-based compulsory subject, in an attempt to improve general education in Finland (Thorarinsson, 1891). In 1866, educational Sloyd (known as craft and technology education today) became a compulsory subject in Finland (Kantola, 1997).

Manual training in Finland was established in two ways: males in rural communities were required to take the programme and teaching centres had to offer related courses (Vaughn & Mays, 1924). With the implementation of this system of universal education for all citizens, Finland became the first nation to make handwork an integral part of a national scheme of elementary education (Bennett, 1926: Kananoja, 1989; Kantola, 1997).

Gygnaeus drew a sharp distinction between handicraft or manual arts as part of the general curriculum and handicraft as part of a technical or specialised education (Kananoja, 1989). Furthermore, he insisted that handicrafts should be taught by regular teachers, rather than specialised craftsmen (Bennett, 1937).

Unfortunately, Gygnaeus' ideas for teaching craft were not adopted. In the Committee Report (1912), the aims of teaching handiwork were based on the ideas of Mikael Soininen, who stated that craft education should be based on the general aims of handicraft training. These aims were in practice the same until the 1970s (Anttila, 1983).

Industrialisation in Finland occurred between the years 1920–1960 and, at the same time, the craft national curriculum began to focus on industrial skills, as such skills were required in society (Kananoja, 1989); little emphasis was placed on the development of students' personalities and the enjoyment of craft work. However, the policy of fulfilling the needs of an industrialised society did not last long. In the Committee Report (1970), it was claimed that craft education was outdated and, influenced by the Norwegian 'Forming' model, the education authorities decided to make craft part of the subject area for art. The Committee Report also emphasised the importance of sexual equality for the first time: it was considered that craft education could develop the important skills needed for everyday life in both sexes. At this time, the name of the subject was changed from craft education to technical craft or textile craft and it was recommended that the number of lessons taught should be considerably decreased. However, these plans never came to full fruition, as the result of a protest by the society of craft teachers. Thus, the impact of the Committee Report, in terms of how the subject was taught in schools, was of little significance.

Technology Education was first introduced in the Framework Curriculum Guidelines (1985), yet its impact on the subject of craft was insignificant. Handicraft skills were still considered of great importance; however, electronics and engineering were incorporated into the subject. The authorities wanted to further develop technology education, but, in practice, this was difficult. They also wanted to preserve the link to the heritage of Finnish craft and support student equality.

In the 1994 Framework Curriculum Guidelines, it was asserted that technology was an important aspect of the development of a modern Finnish society. Sustainability was also introduced into the curriculum. However, technology education was not established as a specific subject and the technological aspect of craft education was not particularly supported. The importance of developing technical literacy in students was emphasised, in order to enable students to adapt to new circumstances and take part in the development of new technologies within a modern Finnish society. It was deemed that students of both sexes should benefit from familiarity with modern technology.

Around 2001, a discussion took place between the authorities and the spokesmen of the craft industry, with regards to the importance of incorporating technology education as an active part of general education in Finland. Unfortunately, these assertions were not taken into account in the Framework Curriculum Guidelines of 2004, with technology merely mentioned in the craft curriculum. Compared to the previous curriculum, few changes were made. The importance of developing students' handicraft skills was underlined, as in the Committee Report of 1970, within the context of the complete process of handiwork. Nevertheless, technology was introduced as part of a specific cross-curricular theme, entitled *The Human Being and Technology*. In the next curriculum 2016, even the name for the subject is expected to be Handicraft. It means that there is a minor emphasis on technology. Instead, the development of students' personalities, the growth of self-esteem and gender issues will be more important.

#### The development of craft and technology curriculum in Estonia

According to the Schools Act in 1803 and 1804, an upper secondary school was to be established in each provincial town; among other subjects the study program included technology and technical drawing (Andresen, 2003). Schools functioned on the principles of "activity schools" (Arbeitschulen), which were common in the Western Europe and favored maximum application of work education principles at school, which did not mean only craft, but the principle, which should include the whole school and would guide the learner towards independent thinking and activity through work and through physical work, in particular (Põld, 1993).

In the independent Republic of Estonia (1919-1940) consistent work was started with the aim of developing the content and organization of education (Läänemets, 1995). The lessons plans of the seven-year school included the subject of handicraft, which was taught 2 lessons a week in every class (Haridusministeeriumi määrus tunnikava kohta, 1919). In 1940, the Republic of Estonia was incorporated in the Soviet Union. According to the study programs established in schools after WW II, Craft lessons focused on making study aids, including objects for other subjects, as schools lacked means and tools for the subject (ENSV Haridusministeeriumi Koolivalitsus). In the program of the 1954/1955 academic year, the objective of Craft was to develop students'

personality, their skills, the ability to handle simpler tools and materials, using accomplishable techniques. In addition, socialist approach to work and collective working was developed in students (Keskkooli programmid 1954/55, 1954).

The directives of the 20th Congress of the Party in 1956 claimed that polytechnic education must be developed in general education schools, guaranteeing that students familiarize themselves with the most important contemporary industrial and agricultural sectors (Štšukin, 1956). At the beginning of the 1960s an innovation in the study plans was students' work for the public good, as well as practical training and practical production practice, at the beginning of the 1980s the trend was towards establishing inter-school production practice plants and the number of Craft lessons per week was increased to four (Rihvk, 1985). At that time various types of tools were made in craft lessons, e.g. surfaced pointers, tin dustpans, which were needed either at school or in the household. Also creative building works were done within decorative wood carving and metal working art. The main aim was to prepare young people, who in the future would mostly become laborers and start working in a public economy sector.

On August 20, 1991 the Supreme Council of the Republic of Estonia passed the decision that Estonia no longer belongs to the Soviet Union and is an independent republic. In 1992 the Ministry of Education established the Craft programs for Grades 5 to 9 in general education schools (Eesti NSV Haridusministeerium, 1992). Classes were divided into two groups (boys and girls) and the program intended for a material-technological system in craft for grades 5 to 9, which meant that teaching various techniques is carried out through producing object of common need, whereas the goal orientation towards the usefulness of the objects for the society was essential. The program for boys had ten different parts: general technical training, woodwork, metal work, decorative wood carving, metal working art, electro-technical work, design and technical modelling, gardening and agriculture, and cording. Four different parts of it were expected to be taught (Eesti NSV Haridusministeerium 1992, pp. 4-5).

The 2002 curriculum established that the craft syllabus for basic schools has four different syllabi: handicraft for grades 1 to 3; handicraft, home economics, and craft and technology education for grades 4 to 9. The main content of craft and technology education was connecting national experience, innovation, and modern technology with students' purposeful creative practical work. (Põhikooli ja gümnaasiumi riiklik õppekava, 2002).

Later on, the regulation established by the government of the republic in 2011, states that the subjects of technology domain are craft, technology education, and handicraft and home economics. Craft is taught in grades 1 to 3 (girls and boys together). At the 2<sup>nd</sup> stage of study the students are divided into study groups based on their wishes and interests, selecting either handicraft and home economics or Technology studies. This allows students to study in greater detail the subject that they are interested in. The division into study groups is not gender-based, but in practice Technology education in grades 4 to 9 was mostly chosen by boys and handicraft / home economics in Grades 4 to 9 mostly by girls (Ainevaldkond "Tehnoloogia", 2011)

The teaching focuses largely on pupils' purposeful and creative innovation, where along with the joy of discovery they experience creating a selected object. Students perform interesting and imaginative creative tasks of applied nature, including the planning of a task or a product, designing and producing it, as well as self-evaluation and presentation of the work. Connections and applied outputs between the subject and spheres of life are pointed out, so that pupils get a complete understanding of the task or the product. It is important that students understand how technology works and they can take part in creating technology that corresponds to their abilities. Students' varying abilities and interests are taken into account and their initiative and motivation to learn is supported. The subject stresses the importance of invention and shapes students' professional behaviors and value judgments. The objective is to value ecological attitude and local traditions, as well as attain ethical beliefs. (Ainevaldkond "Tehnoloogia", 2011).

#### The development of craft and technology curriculum in Iceland

The originators of pedagogical craft education in Iceland introduced the ideology of Scandinavian Sloyd to Icelandic educators around 1900. Consequently, their work provided the basis for the establishment of school laws, in terms of general craft education and curriculum development. The first public school laws were established in Iceland's parliament in 1907 (Log um fraedslu barna, 1907); however, ideas for craft education were not included in this. The possible reasons for this were a lack of school buildings and facilities, a lack of interest on the part of the authorities and the importance of children working in the economy.
The first National Curriculum for the Education of Children was published in 1929 and this outlined seven years of school education for children living in urban areas and four years of education for children residing in rural areas. The craft industry was still not mentioned in the curriculum, although drawing was recommended as a subject (Eliasson, 1944). Despite this, craft was taught in several schools that had the necessary facilities.

Craft was first established as a subject in 1948. Instruction was gender-based, with craft for boys and textiles for girls (Fræðslumálastjórnin, 1948). The first integral national curriculum for compulsory education was published in 1960: this was gender-divided, but emphasised the general pedagogical values of the subject.

Based on the above law, a new national curriculum was established in 1976-1977 (The Icelandic Ministry of Education, 1977). In this curriculum, craft education was incorporated as a new subject area, entitled *Art and Handicraft*; this included art, textiles and craft. For the first time, all these subjects were compulsory for both boys and girls, with the curriculum being slightly revised in 1989.

In 1999, Craft was re-established as a technological subject, under the heading of *Design and Craft* (The Icelandic Ministry of Education, 1999): this new subject was based on a rationale of technological literacy, innovation and design (Thorsteinsson, 2002; Thorsteinsson & Denton, 2003). The curriculum was ambitious and made significant strides towards the education of technology. However, many teachers felt this was a step too far and felt uncomfortable utilising electronics in lessons. They lacked sufficient knowledge, skills and interest, with regards to the teaching of technology (Olafsson, Hilmarsson & Svavarsson, 2005).

When the national curriculum was revised in 2007, the education authority decided to seek suggestions from the Design and Craft Teachers' Association, in terms of the teaching of Design and Craft. Taking the teachers' views into account, it was decided to minimise the technological part of the Design and Craft curriculum and the original Sloyd values were once again included in the curriculum (Olafsson, Hilmarsson & Svavarsson, 2005). The curriculum moved away from the manufacturing process (i.e., mass production) and towards handicraft-based processes. Today, innovation and idea generation are still an important part of the curriculum (Olafsson & Thorsteinsson, 2010), as is encouraging students to organise their work. New aspects of the curriculum are outdoor education, green woodwork, sustainable design and health and safety. Teachers have gained increased freedom, in terms of following the school curriculum and managing their teaching, as there are no longer any aims listed each year. The main changes in the development of the three curriculums are presented in Table 1.

Finland	Estonia	Iceland		
1866 Statute of folk school	1894 Russian law	The first public school laws in		
-Craft compulsory school subject	-Craft was officially a part of the	1907 Ideas for Craft education		
1952 Committee Report -focus on industrial skills - using industrial machines deemed important	<ul> <li>1954 Secondary school programs</li> <li>focus on polytechnic education</li> <li>develop students' ability to work with simpler tools and materials</li> </ul>	The first National Curriculum for the Education of Children in 1929 -Craft was not mentioned. Despite this, craft was taught in schools that had the necessary facilities.		
1970 Committee Report -pedagogical background for Craft education was introduced - large emphasis on gender equity	1961 Secondary school study plans - practical production and inter- school production practice plants -students' work for the public good	Craft was first established as a subject in 1948. Instruction was gender-based, with craft for boys and textiles for girls		
1985 Framework Curriculum -concept of technology introduced -cultural heritage in Craft education made important	1992Programsforgeneraleducation-Craft separately for boys and girls-teaching various techniques-usefulness of the objects for thesociety was essential	In 1977 curriculum, Craft education was incorporated as a new subject area, entitled <i>Art and</i> <i>Handicraft</i> . -Both subjects were compulsory for both boys and girls.		
2004 Framework Curriculum -students' personality development highlighted	2002 National curriculum for basic schools and upper secondary schools	In 1999 Craft was re-established as a technological subject, under the heading of <i>Design and Craft</i>		

Table 1. The main changes in the national curriculums for Craft and Technology in Finland, Estonia and Iceland

-enjoyment in doing craftwork and self-esteem deemed important	-Craft and Technology Education for grades 4 to 9 (mostly boys) -basic knowledge and practical skills in present-day engineering and technology	-The new subject was based on a rationale of technological literacy,
2016 Framework Curriculum	2011 National curriculum for basic	In 2007 national curriculum was
<ul><li>-ideas on the name of the subject are exchanged?</li><li>-additional lessons are requested for the subject in primary level?</li></ul>	school -Technology education for grades 4 to 9 (study groups based on students' wishes and interests) -project works (girls and boys together)	revised, the technological part was minimized and the original craft values were once again included in the curriculum. -innovation and idea generation still an important part of Craft education

## **Empirical research**

The aim of the quantitative aspect of the research was to answer the question: Are there differences in students' attitudes towards craft and technology in Finland, Estonia and Iceland? Dyrenfurth (1990) and Layton (1994) referred to attitudes in technology education using the concept of 'technological will'. According to these authors, technology is determined and guided by human emotions, motivation, values and personal qualities. Thus, the development of technology is dependent on the students' will to take part in lessons and on the impact of their technological decisions.

In order to evaluate students' attitudes towards craft and technology in Finland, Estonia and Iceland, a questionnaire was devised, consisting of 14 statements. For each Likert-type item, there were five options, from 'Strongly Disagree' (= 1) to 'Strongly Agree' (= 5). The questionnaire also featured some questions about students' backgrounds, in addition to questions that attempted to gauge students' motivation and success, in terms of craft and technology education classes. The questionnaire was based on the PATT standards (Pupils Attitudes Towards Technology), which were designed and validated by Raat & de Vries (1986) and van de Velde (1992). Reliability measured by Cronbach alpha was 0.84. Totally 658 students took part in the survey. The age of the student-respondents was 11-13 years.

According to Autio (1997), de Klerk Wolters (1989), Fensham (1992) and Lauren (1993), we could assume that there would be differences in individuals' attitudes towards technology. Therefore, we tried to find out whether there were any differences between the respondents. This was done by conducting the one tailed t-test, with the same variance, on boys and girls. In the entire Finnish, Estonian and Icelandic groups, we employed the two tailed t-test, as we had no hypothesis based on the previous research.

### Results

Several differences in students' attitudes towards craft and technology were found in the three countries. The average response in our Likert-style (1-5) questionnaire to all 14 items was among Finnish girls 3.37, Estonian girls 3.55 and Icelandic girls 3.67. Significant statistical difference was found between boys and girls (p=0.001), whereas the average response of boys was in Finland 3.78, Estonia 4.00 and in Iceland 3.87. Estonian boys had the most positive attitude towards technology, whereas the lowest attitude was found among Finnish girls. The difference between boys and girls was definitely the smallest in Iceland. The averages for all 14 items in each country are presented in Table 2.

 Table 2. Average (Mean) values for each statement, with regards to the measurement of students' attitudes towards craft and technology in Finland, Estonia and Iceland

Statement	Gender	Average Finland	Average Estonia	Average Iceland
1. Is interested in engineering and the phenomena	girls	3.45	3.32	3.55
related to it	boys	4.30	4.40	4.40
2. Spends a lot of time with engineering-related hobby	girls	<u>2.71</u>	<u>2.02</u>	<u>2.82</u>
activities	boys	3.06	3.44	3.58

3. Newspapers, magazines, and articles from the field of	girls	2.35	2.87	2.82
engineering are interesting	boys	2.83	3.50	3.00
4. Understanding engineering-related phenomena will be	girls	3.45	3.59	3.59
beneficial in the future	boys	3.95	4.43	3.95
5. Understanding engineering-related phenomena	girls	3.55	3.50	3.16
requires a special wit	boys	3.60	4.16	3.70
6. Both boys and girls may understand engineering-	girls	4.62	4.42	4.82
related phenomena	boys	4.29	4.22	4.60
7. The mankind has rather benefited than sustained	girls	3.85	3.89	3.98
damage from the development of engineering	boys	4.25	4.29	4.23
8. In the future would like to choose a specialty or a	girls	<u>2.40</u>	<u>2.40</u>	<u>2.55</u>
profession related to engineering	boys	3.25	3.39	3.25
9. Parents have a lot of engineering-related hobbies	girls	2.98	2.61	3.07
	boys	3.09	2.96	2.88
10. The atmosphere in the Technology Education / Craft	girls	3.56	4.32	4.07
lessons is pleasant and inspiring	boys	4.24	4.11	4.03
11. Technology Education / Craft lessons considerably	girls	3.85	<u>4.56</u>	4.66
contribute to the development of manual skills	boys	4.25	4.56	4.50
12. Technology Education / Craft lessons develop	girls	3.60	4.12	3.89
logical thinking	boys	3.84	4.24	3.93
13. Has been successful in Technology Education / Craft	girls	3.49	3.99	4.55
lessons	boys	3.80	3.93	4.25
14. Technology Education / Craft lessons will be	girls	3.51	4.09	3.82
beneficial in the future	boys	3.90	4.39	3.88
All 14 items	girls	3.37	3.55	3.67
	boys	3.78	4.00	3.87

The highest average values in the whole questionnaire were found in statement 7: Both boys and girls may understand engineering-related phenomena. The highest average responses were among Icelandic girls 4.82, Finnish girls 4.62 and Icelandic boys 4.60. No significant statistical differences (p=0.21) were found between boys and girls. This is a clear sign that gender issues in technology education are adopted by both boys and girls. The averages for statement: Both boys and girls may understand engineering-related phenomena are shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Shows the average values in statement: Both boys and girls may understand engineering-related phenomena

Another statement with high loadings was number 11: Technology education / craft lessons considerably contribute to the development of manual skills. The highest average responses were among Icelandic girls 4.66, Estonian boys and girls 4.56 and Icelandic boys 4.50. Interestingly there was a significant statistical difference

(p=0.001) when compared with Finnish girls 3.85. In general, it seems that it is not surprising that both boys and girls are attracted to craft and technology education because they enjoy working with their hands and like the independence and chance for creativity provided by these classes (Silverman & Pritchard, 1996). It is obvious that several other school subjects have more motivational problems than technology education (Shernoff, Csikszentmiahlyi, Schneider & Shernoff, 2003). The averages for statement: Technology education / handicraft lessons considerably contribute to the development of manual skills are shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Shows the average values in statement: Technology education / handicraft lessons considerable contribute to the development of manual skills

The lowest value was found in statement 2: Spends a lot of time with engineering-related hobby activities. The average response among Estonian girls was 2.02 followed by Finnish girls 2.71 and Icelandic girls 2.82. Difference between boys and girls was statistically very significant (p<0.001) whereas Icelandic boys scored 3.58 and Estonian boys 3.44. The averages for statement: Spends a lot of time with engineering-related hobby activities are presented in Figure 3.



Figure 3: Shows the average value in statement: Spends a lot of time with engineering related hobby activities

Another statement with low values was number 3: In the future would like to choose a speciality or a profession related to engineering The lowest average responses were among Finnish and Estonian girls 2.40 followed by Icelandic girls 2.55. Again, statistically very significant difference (p<0.001) was found whereas Estonian boys scored 3.39 followed by and Icelandic and Finnish boys 3.25. This is consistent with Eccles (2007) who states that males will receive more support for developing a strong interest in physical science and engineering from

their parents, teachers and peers than females. In addition, it is absolutely the case that all young people will see more examples of males engaged in these occupations than females. The averages for statement: In the future would like to choose a speciality or a profession related to engineering are presented in Figure 4.



Figure 4: Shows the average values in statement: In the future would like to choose a speciality or a profession related to engineering

The highest correlation (0.76, p<0.001) to the average of other statements was found in statement 1: Is interested in engineering and the phenomena related to it. The statistical difference (p<0.001) between boys and girls was also the highest in this statement. Highest value was found among Estonian and Icelandic boys 4.40 followed by Finnish boys 4.30. Lowest value was scored by Estonian girls 3.32. The difference between boys and girls interest areas can be seen in practice, at least in Finland, where boys still want to choose technical craft studies and the girls' textiles (Autio, 1997; Autio 2013). The averages for statement: In the future would like to choose a speciality or a profession related to engineering are presented in Figure 5.



Figure 5: Shows the average value in statement: Is interested in engineering and the phenomena related to it

## **Conclusions and Discussion**

Craft education in Finland, Estonia and Iceland originated over 140 years ago and was influenced by the Scandinavian sloyd pedagogy. In the beginning, the subjects largely focused on students copying artefacts, using a variety of handicraft tools: the purpose of this was to improve their' manual skills, rather than their thinking skills. At that time various types of artifacts were made in craft lessons, e.g. surfaced pointers, tin dustpans, which were needed either at school or in the household. In 1960's especially in Estonia an important aim was to guarantee that students familiarize themselves with the most important contemporary industrial and agricultural sectors and ensuring a tight connection between teaching and public work, as well as to cultivate communistic approach to work in the young generation. Also in Finland one of the main aims was to prepare young people, who in the future would mostly become laborers and start working in a public economy sector. However, to day the focus is much more on developing students' thinking skills, which enables them to work through various handicraft processes (from initial ideas to the final products). This work is based on the idea generation of students and is thus expected to increase their self-esteem and ingenuity.

The literature review also highlighted that during the past twenty years the understanding of technology and its relationship to society has been emphasized. The technical development of society makes it necessary for all citizens to be prepared to use technical adaptations and to be able to exert an influence on the direction of technical development. Furthermore, students regardless of gender must have the opportunity to acquaint themselves with technology and to learn to understand and avail themselves of its uses.

Despite the origins of craft education in Finland, Estonia and Iceland being similar, nowadays the Estonian and Icelandic national curriculum place greater emphasis on technological aspects, design and innovation, whereas the Finnish national curriculum focused on the development of students' personalities and gender issues. What's more, in Finland there is just on subject - Craft education, but it is in practice further divided into technical work and textile work, whereas in Estonia and Iceland the curriculum allows more flexibility. In Iceland art based textile education and innovation based technology education, compulsory for both sexes, seem to be relatively good setup for gender equity as the difference in attitudes was the smallest in Iceland. In Estonia technologically based 'technology' and 'handicraft / home economics' gives students an opportunity to choose study groups based on their wishes and interests, and allows students to study in greater detail the subject that they are interested in.

In the quantitative part of the research, several differences in students' attitudes towards craft and technology were found in the three countries. Definitely, the smallest difference between boys and girls was found in Iceland. This finding corroborates with comparable results from Autio, Soobik (2013) and Autio, Thorsteinsson and Olafsson (2012) which shows that Icelandic girls performed better attitudes than both Estonian and Finnish girls. This is an interesting finding as the Finnish curriculum has put large emphasis on gender equity since 1970, but still Finnish girls had the most negative attitude towards technology. Finnish girls seemed to be aware of the gender equity and their highly agree with the statement: both boys and girls may understand engineering-related phenomena. However, only a few girls are willing to challenge stereotypes about non-traditional careers for women, as it could be conducted from responses to the statement: in the future would like to choose a speciality or a profession related to engineering. This phenomenon seems to be true in Estonia and Iceland as well. Gender-based segregation and falling recruitment for scientific and technological studies are common phenomena in all the Nordic countries (Sjøberg, 2002). However, it is a paradox that the inequity is noticeable in Finland where for decades gender equality has been a prime educational goal.

In addition, only few girls seemed to have technological hobbies or had interest in technological articles. What's more, in Finland the boys still want to choose technical craft studies and the girls' textiles (Autio, 1997; Autio 2013). A practical solution to get both sexes to choose both subjects has not been found, although it is obvious that boys and girls have different interest areas as seen in responses to the statement: Is interested in engineering and the phenomena related to it. Finnish and Estonian craft and technology education curriculum could benefit from Icelandic system with two different subjects: art based textile education and innovation based technology education, compulsory for both boys and girls.

The Estonian boys' attitudes towards craft and technology were most positive. It indicates that the Estonian curriculum that includes two different craft subjects: the technologically based 'technology' and 'handicraft / home economics' is still a relatively motivated setup especially for boys, because they can concentrate in greater detail to the subject that they are really interested in. In addition, the innovation and technology part: technology in everyday life, design and technical drawing, materials and processing with exchanged study groups works fine for both boys and girls. On the other hand, motivation in technology education can be significantly

improved by developing special programs (Mammes, 2004), where teachers are aware of the differing interests of both genders and consider ways of making the environment and the subject attractive to all (Silverman & Pritchard, 1996).

The critical side of the study is that the study group consisted only from 11-13 year-old students and in Estonia only 11-year-olds. This concentration only in the younger students may have had a small effect in the results. Although students' attitudes are assumed to be rather stable during the school years (Arffman & Brunell, 1983; Bjerrum Nielsen & Rudberg, 1989); Autio, Thorsteinsson and Olafsson (2012) found that there was significant statistical difference between 11 and 13 year old Finnish girls in attitudes towards technology. Furthermore, no statistical difference was found between younger and older Finnish and Icelandic boys or between Icelandic younger and older girls.

Another critical point of the quantitative part was the use of a relatively small sample of students compared to whole population. In addition, the amount of students varied a little bit between countries. However, 658 students seemed to be enough as the results are consistent with previous studies (Autio, 1997; Autio, Thorsteinsson & Olafsson, 2012; Autio & Soobik, 2013). As the whole technological culture is different in these three countries, we must notice that, the questionnaire measures only students' attitude, not their absolute technological will which is shaped and guided by the whole society, human emotions, motivation, values and personal qualities. The concept attitude is just a single one part of a larger concept, which is 'technological competence'. However, attitude is a crucial part of the competence as it has a remarkable effect on technological knowledge and technological skills in real life situations.

The reasons behind the dissimilarities found between the three countries may be due to differences in the curriculums and in different pedagogical traditions. Besides, in Estonia there was still some influence from Tsarist Russia with a tight connection between teaching and public work, as well as to cultivate ideological approach to work in the young generation. On the other hand, the political situation has considerably changed in Estonia and the motivation for further development seems to be ambitious also in education, including the syllabi of craft and technology education. However, further research is needed before the authors can reach their final conclusions. We are continuing our efforts in several related projects.

## References

- Ainevaldkond "Tehnoloogia" [Subject field "Technology"]. (2011). RT I, 14.01.2011, 1. Retrieved from https://www.riigiteataja.ee/aktilisa/1200/9201/1009/VV1\_lisa7.pdf.
- Andresen, L. (2003). *Eesti kooli ajalugu. Algusest kuni 1940 aastani* [History of the Estonian school. From the beginning until 1940]. Estonia, Tallinn: AS BIT.
- Anttila, P. (1983). *Työ ja työhön kasvatettavuus [Work and the education to work]*. Tutkimus koulun työkasvatuksesta ja siihen vaikuttavista tekijöistä. Helsingin yliopiston kasvatustieteen laitos. Tutkimuksia 100.
- Arffman, I. & Brunell, V. (1983) Sukupuolten psykologisista eroavaisuuksista ja niiden syistä [Psychological gender differences and the reasons for them]. Jyväskylän yliopisto. Kasvatustieteiden tutkimuslaitoksen selosteita ja tiedotteita 283.
- Autio, O. (1997). Oppilaiden teknisten valmiuksien kehittyminen peruskoulussa [Student's development in technical abilities in Finnish comprehensive school]. Research Reports No. 117. Helsinki: The University of Helsinki, Department of Teacher Education.
- Autio, O. (2013) Oppilaiden teknologiset valmiudet vertailu vuoteen 1993. [Students' technological abilities a comparison to a year 1997] *Kasvatus 44 (4)*, 367-380.
- Autio, O & Soobik, M. (2013). A Comparative Study of Craft and technology Education Curriculums and Students' Attitudes towards Craft and Technology in Finnish and Estonian Schools. *Techne series A*, 20 (2), 17-33.
- Autio, O., Thorsteinsson, G. & Olafsson, B. (2012). A Comparative Study of Finnish and Icelandic Craft Education Curriculums and Students' Attitudes towards Craft and Technology in Schools. Procedia -Social and Behavioral Sciences 45 (2012), 114-124.
- Bennett, C. A. (1926) History of Manual and Industrial Education up to 1870, Peoria: The Manual Arts Press.
- Bennett, C.A. (1937) *History of Manual and Industrial Education 1870 to 1917*. Peoria IL: The Manual Arts Press.
- Bjerrum Nielsen, H. & Rudberg, M. (1989). Historien om jenter og gutter. Kjonnsosialisering i ett utvecklingspsykoligisk perspektiv. Oslo: Universitetslaget
- Committee Report (1912). Helsinki: Kouluhallitus.

Committee Report (1970). Helsinki: Kouluhallitus.

- Dyrenfruth, M. J. (1990). Technological Literacy: Characteristics and Competencies, Revealed and Detailed. In H. Szydlowski & R. Stryjski (Eds.) *Technology and School: Report of the PATT Conference* (pp. 26-50). Zielona Gora, Poland: Pedagogical University Press.
- Eccles, J. (2007) Where are all the women? Gender differences in participation in physical science and engineering. In Ceci, S. & Williams, W. (Eds.) Why Aren't more Women in Science. American Psychological Association: Washington, DC.
- Eesti Vabariigi haridusseadus [Education Law of the Republic of Estonia]. (1992). RT 1992, 12, 192. Retrieved from https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/968165?leiaKehtiv
- Eesti NSV Haridusministeerium. Üldhariduskooli programmid. Tööõpetus V- IX klassile [Programs for general education schools. Craft for Grades 5 to 9]. (1992). Eesti Vabariigi haridusministeerium.
- Eliasson, H. (Ed.) (1944). Log og reglur um skola- og menningarmol a Islandi sem i gildi eru i marzlok 1944. Reykjavik: Fraedslumalastjornin.
- ENSV Haridusministeeriumi Koolivalitsus [Educational authority of the Ministry of Education of the ESSR]. Rahvusarhiiv, f.R-14. Nr 4, s.12.
- Haridusministeeriumi määrus tunnikava kohta [Regulation of the Ministry of Education on lesson plans]. (1919). Tallinn.
- Fensham, P. (1992). Science and Technology. In Jackson, P. (Ed.) *Handbook of Research on Curriculum*. New York: MacMillan.
- Framework Curriculum Guidelines (1985). Helsinki: Kouluhallitus.
- Framework Curriculum Guidelines (1994). Helsinki: Opetushallitus.
- Framework Curriculum Guidelines (2004). Helsinki: Opetushallitus.
- Kananoja, T. (1999). Letters of Uno Cygnaeus and Otto Salomon the 22nd of June 1877- 1st of January 1887. In: T. Kananoja, J. Kantola & M. Isskainen (Eds.), *Development of Technology Education* –
  - Conference-98 (pp.32-57). Finland, Jyväskylä: University Printing House Jyväskylä.
- Kananoja (1989). Työ, taito ja teknologia. Yleissivistävän koulun toiminnallisuuteen ja työhön kasvattamisesta [Work, skill and technology. About education to work and functionality in comprehensive school]. Turun yliopiston julkaisuja 72.
- Kantola (1997). Gygnaeuksen jäljillä käsityönopetuksesta teknologiseen kasvatukseen [In the footspeps of Uno Gygnaeus from handicraft to technology education]. Jyväskylän yliopiston julkaisuja 133.
- Kantola, J., Nikkanen, P., Kari, J. & Kananoja, T. (1999). Through Education into the World of Work. Uno Cygnaeus, the Father of Technology Education. Jyvaskyla University, Institute for Educational Research. Jyväskylä: Jyväskylä University Press, pp. 9 -17.
- Keskkooli programmid 1954/55 õppeaastaks. Tööõpetus. Praktilised tööd õppe-katseaias. Praktilised tööd õppetöökojas [Secondary school programs for the 1954/1955 academic year. Craft. Practical works in the test garden. Practical works in the workshop]. (1954).
- Lauren, J. (1993). Osaavatko peruskoululaiset luonnontietoa. In Linnankylä, P. & Saari, H. (Eds.). Oppiiko oppilas peruskoulussa? [Do students' learn in comprehensive school?]. Jyväskylän yliopisto. Kasvatustieteen tutkimuslaitos.
- Layton, D. (1994). A School Subject in the Making? The Search for Fundamentals. In D. Layton (Ed.) Innovations in Science and Technology Education (Vol.5). Paris: Unesco.
- Log um fraedslu barna (nr. 59/1907).
- Läänemets, U. (1995). *Hariduse sisu ja õppekavade arengust Eestis* [About the content of education and the development of curricula in Estonia]. Estonia, Tallinn: Jaan Tõnissoni Instituut.
- Mammes, I. (2004). Promoting Girls' Interest in Technology through Technology Education: A Research Study. *International Journal of Technology and Design Education 14*, 89-100.
- Olafsson, B., Hilmarsson, E. & Svavarsson, K. (2005). Greinargerð vinnuhóps endurskoðun aðalnámskrár grunnskóla í hönnun og smíði. Unpublished Greinargerð.
- Olafsson, B. & Thorsteinsson, G. (2010). Examining Design and Craft Education in Iceland: Curriculum Development and Present Situation. *FORMakadmisk*, 3(2), 39-50.
- Põhikooli- ja gümnaasiumiseadus [Basic School and Upper Secondary School Act]. (2010). RT I 2010, 41, 240. Retrieved from https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/13332410?leiaKehtiv
- Põhikooli ja gümnaasiumi riiklik õppekava [National curriculum for basic schools and upper secondary schools]. (2002). <u>RT I 2002, 20, 116</u>. Retrieved from http://www.riigiteataja.ee/ert/act.jsp?id=1008388
- Põld, P. (1993). Töökasvatusest koolis [Work education in school]. In H. Muoni (Ed.), Valitud tööd I [Selected works I] (pp. 26-36). Estonia, Tartu: Tartu Ülikool, Eesti Akadeemiline Pedagoogika Selts.
- Raat, J. & de Vries, M. (1986). What do Girls and Boys think about Technology? Eindhoven, University of Technology.
- Rihvk, E. (1985). Üldkooli tööõpetuse kolm aastakümmet [Three decades of Craft in general schools]. *Nõukogude Kool*, 7, 34-38.

- Shernoff, D.J., Csikszentmiahlyi, M., Schneider, B. & Shernoff, E.S. (2003). Student engagement in high school classrooms from the perspective of flow theory. *School Psychology Quarterly* 18, 207-231.
- Silverman, S. & Pritchard, A. (1996). Building Their Future: Girls and Technology Education in Connecticut, Journal of Technology Education 7 (2), 41-54.
- Sjøberg, S. (2002). Science and Technology Education: Current Challenges and Possible Solutions. In Jenkins, E. (ed.) *Innovations in Science and Technology Education Vol VIII*, Paris: UNESCO.
- Štšukin, S. (1956). Polütehnilise õpetamise tähtis lüli [Important link in polytechnic education]. *Nõukogude Õpetaja*, nr 13, 3.
- The Icelandic Ministry of Education (1977). The Icelandic National Curriculum.
- The Icelandic Ministry of Education (1999). The Icelandic National Curriculum.
- The Icelandic Ministry of Education (2007). The Icelandic National Curriculum.
- Thorarinsson, J. (1891). Um kennslu í skólaiðnaði. Tímarit um uppeldis- og menntamál, 4(1), 3-20.
- Thorsteinsson, G. (2002). Innovation and Practical Use of Knowledge. *Data International Research Conference* 2002, 171-177.
- Thorsteinsson, G. & Denton, H. (2003). The Development of Innovation Education in Iceland: a Pathway to Modern Pedagogy and Potential Value in the UK. *The Journal of Design and Technology Education*, 8(3), 172-179.
- Tooding, L. M. (2007). Andmete analüüs ja tõlgendamine sotsiaalteadustes [Data analysis and interpretation in social sciences]. Tartu, Estonia: Tartu Ülikooli Kirjastus.
- van der Velde, J. (1992). Technology in Basic Education. In Kananoja, T. (Ed.) *Technology Education Conference*. Helsinki: The National Board of Education (151-170).
- Vaughn, S. J. & Mays, A. B. (1924). *Content and Methods of the Industrial Arts*. New York & London: The Century Co.



# International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research (IJCER)

www.ijcer.net

## General High School Students' Opinions on the Use of Project FATIH

**Ilhan Gunbayi<sup>1</sup>, Tayfun Yoruk<sup>1</sup>** <sup>1</sup> Akdeniz University

## To cite this article:

Gunbayi, I. & Yoruk, T. (2015). General high school students' opinions on the use of project FATIH. *International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research*, 2(1), 35-45.

This article may be used for research, teaching, and private study purposes.

Any substantial or systematic reproduction, redistribution, reselling, loan, sub-licensing, systematic supply, or distribution in any form to anyone is expressly forbidden.

Authors alone are responsible for the contents of their articles. The journal owns the copyright of the articles.

The publisher shall not be liable for any loss, actions, claims, proceedings, demand, or costs or damages whatsoever or howsoever caused arising directly or indirectly in connection with or arising out of the use of the research material.



# ISSN: 2148-3868

## General High School Students' Opinions on the Use of Project FATIH (Sample of Muratpaşa District of Antalya Province)<sup>\*</sup>

**Ilhan Gunbayi**<sup>1\*\*</sup>, **Tayfun Yoruk**<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup> Akdeniz University

#### Abstract

The purpose of this study was to determine the opinions of general high school students regarding the usage level of project FATIH started to be implemented in the academic year 2012 – 2013. In this study, survey method was used and the sample of research consisted of the 375 students studying in 16 high schools in which the project FATIH was being implemented in Muratpaşa district of Antalya. For the statistical analysis, by the help software SPSS 18.00 and LISREL 8.54, frequency, percentage, mean, standard deviation, t-Test, LSD, and One-way ANOVA tests were used. According to the results obtained from the study, regarding the usage level of Project FATIH, students had "medium" level positive opinion in terms of the factors "Use of e-content", "Training requirement", and "Institution adequacy" while they had "high" level of positive opinion on the factors "Teaching processes" and "Self-adequacy and project yields". In addition, for the findings it can be said that students studying in the branch of social sciences had lower positive opinion on the usage of e-content during courses. Finally, it is understood that 9<sup>th</sup> grade students had very high level of opinion in terms of all dimensions with respect to their friends in higher education levels..

Keywords: Project FATIH, Student Opinions

## Introduction

Technology originating from the word "technic" in Greek and the science related to technic in its grammatical meaning can be defined as the artefact of the science (Işık, 1981:159, Alkan, Deryakulu, & Şimşek, 1995:81). In other words, technology can also be defined as "the applied information source for improving the efficiency of the production and marketing of available goods and services and for producing new goods and services" (Dunning, 1993:10).

20<sup>th</sup> century is a more productive century in which the relationship between the technology and the science is exactly expressed and in which there are too many discoveries for the other social development issues. Technological developments revealed some irreversible improvements in many areas such as communication, transportation, production, battle, medicine and also are the trigger for important debates. After the benefits provided by the systemic relationship between practice and academic assumptions, technological progress has been carried out by the specialized researchers in the research and development laboratories funded by industrial companies and governments (McNeill, 2003:651).

Without a doubt, the most intensive application of technological developments is in the field of education. Therefore, education processes are directly affected by the technological developments. Orhan and Akkoyunlu (2003) revealed that technological developments affect the progress of the education, not only in only one aspect but also in many aspects. According to many authorities, an integration between technology and education will make the whole processes, which include everything from the learning environment to the learning materials, more efficient, and as a result, more qualified individuals will be grown up (Inel, Evrekli, & Balum, 2011:129).

According to Aggarwal (2000), 21<sup>st</sup> century have the features below:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>\*</sup> This article was presented as a paper in International Conference on Education in Mathematics, Science and Technology (ICEMST 2014), May 16-18, 2014.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Corresponding Author: Ilhan Gunbayi, igunbayi@akdeniz.edu.tr

- Independent of space and time
- Directed to the aim and the result,
- Student-centred,
- Focused on active team-work,
- Directed to get "learning" as output,
- Including differences in between ability and language (Yılmaz & Horzum, 2005:110).

At this point, in the light of the reasons mentioned above, it would be appropriate to talk about the concept of educational technology. Riza (1997) described the educational technology as "a discipline that plans the learning systems, determines all possible methods, sources, and communication tools of that learning system, complements creative instructional techniques available for providing the most efficient and positive learning" (Riza, 1997:27). In addition to this definition, Alkan (1997) explained the relationship between process, learning stage, and the environment in the context of educational technology with the expression: "it is related with the execution of education and activities for setting up the stage and adjusting the environment about determining the behaviours, educational status, and actions for giving roles." Moreover, Çilenti (1998) described the educational technology as "a discipline studying on making individuals reach to the special aims of education by evaluating the results and by using accessible sources about the educational data of behavioural sciences' communication and learning, manpower and non-manpower sources brilliantly and skilfully".

As it is known, there are three main elements of education: teacher, student, and environment. If communication between these elements is to be healthy, this is the duty of educational technology. In order to achieve the desired quality of education, achieving the goals of education by using the technology is a requirement for our century. Similarly, to avoid keeping away from developments in science and technology, developing the educational system and getting the standards of the current age are obligatory. Society, individuals within a society and knowledge are renewing themselves and therefore education must also be updated. In this update process, answering the questions on what the specific environments and technologies of education are and in which ways the objectives of education and training will be carried out are in the scope of educational technology. (Numanoğlu, 1995:67).

In the learning process, one of the factors that encourages students to focus on is the use of technology. By this way, while the student's self-confidence and motivation levels are increasing, their cognitive skills are also improved (Heafner, 2004:47). Of course, to provide these benefits, there are some important duties for teachers. Roblyer and Edwards (2005) focused on the teachers about the use of technology and studied on the reasons of why teachers used technological materials in their classrooms. According to this research, teachers' and therefore students' reasons for using technology are as follows:

- a. Motivation,
- b. Educational skill,
- c. Increased productivity of the teacher,
- d. Required skills in the information age,
- e. Supporting new instructional methods.

In the literature, there are researches that are focusing on how and how much integration between technology and educational processes is provided. Hew and Brush (2007) emphasized the necessity of this integration but also they argued that for the schools, there would not be an exact definition of this integration. Ajjan and Hartshorne (2008) agree that usage of internet and desktop software like word processors and spreadsheets installed on desktop and laptop computers in schools, if they are used for educational purposes, is the indicator of the integration of technology. Cuban, Kirkpatrick, and Pack (2001) showed that this integration can be a high-level or a low-level integration. According to their study, low-level integration is only the simple usage like making researches on internet in schools, while high-level integration is doing some more complex duties like preparing multimedia presentations, collecting data and explaining data for the projects.

As a result of the improvements in the electronic world, computers occupied a big place in our lives and therefore it is assumed that today's technology and computers are synonyms. In this regard, when educational technology is mentioned, it is inevitable that the education should get the support of computers. Examined in the context of educational technology, the usage of computers as a teaching-learning tool is more important than its usage on other fields. Because, the main function of educational technology is to ensure the teaching-learning process more efficient and effective. There are different classifications of computers in terms of their services and type of their usage in education. According to a classification made by Taylor, computers in teaching process are used (Taylor, 1980:7):

- "As a tool to process words, information and numbers,
- As a learner in a case in which a student uses computer to perform a task, in the simulation environment under the control of the user, and in a case which was created by expert systems and by programming languages,
- As a tutoring media that enables to teach a subject through a computer software."

In the view of Akpinar et al (2005), education is performed under a strict control of teachers for years and the teacher is only the person who gives information. After the students took the primary place in the process of information construction, teachers' role also changed and mainly they became a guide in this process. Although students are in the centre of learning, this process became more obvious by the gains of the computer aided instruction (Bayturan, 2008:11). Computer aided instruction is the use of computers in teaching process not as an option but as an element making the system more powerful (Uşun, 2004:40)

The pioneer ideas on computer aided instruction had been put forward in the 1980s and the first attempts had been in 1987. In 1988 - 1989 academic year, the first project titled "Project of Computer Aided Instruction" began to be carried out. Nowadays, the project carried out by the Ministry of National Education and titled "The Project of FATIH (The Movement of Increasing the Opportunities and Making Technology Better) in Education" is a popular subject in the context of a reform on educational technology.

The Project FATIH announced by the Ministry of National Education in December in 2010 has the purpose of supplying broadband internet access in all classrooms and providing the necessary hardware in the context of improving the school's technological infrastructure. In addition, creating educational electronic contents (e-content) and integrating these e-contents with the teaching processes are the objectives of the project (Perkmen & Tezci, 2011:6). To perform these objectives, smart boards and auxiliary technological equipment will be provided for primary and secondary schools in the whole country, teachers and students will be given tablet pcs, tablet pcs will have the whole related textbooks, and many of the educational materials will be reached over the Internet. For teachers, an in-service training that aims to adapt teachers for the new technological instruments is also planned (Öncü, 2013:394; MEB, 2013). Some of these applications has been carried out and some of them are still waiting to be carried out since the project is still at the stage of supply.

A research conducted by Dincer, Şenkal, and Sezgin (2013) points out that although students computer literacy is very low, their attitudes towards the project is very high. In addition, in Sünkür, Arabacı, and Şanlı's (2012) study that investigated the usage of smart boards it was expressed that students have positive attitudes towards using smart boards during courses. In another study that was examining the usage of smart boards during lectures again, Kırıbağ-Zengin, Kırılmazkaya, and Keçeci (2011) had a conclusion that, similar with the Sünkür and et al.'s work, students had positive feelings with using smart boards but this positive feelings might arise due to curiosity and as time goes by another study had to be performed. In a qualitative research studied by Pamuk, Çakır, Ergun, and Yılmaz (2013), there were noted very interesting results in terms of the usage of smart boards is a new type of projection tool, and all students and teachers suffer from the disconnection between smart boards and tablet pc's. When the literature on the project FATIH, it can be seen that there are so many researches on different aspects of the topic, however, it is hard to see studies investigating the attitudes for different variables like gender, educational level and branch.

In the light of the information above, the aim of this study is to determine the opinions of general high school students on the use of the Project FATIH. For this purpose, answers for the questions below are sought:

- 1. What are the opinions of general high school students on the use of the Project FATIH?
- 2. Do the opinions of general high school students differentiate significantly in terms of students' gender, branch, and education level?

## Method

#### **Research Pattern**

In this study, which is aimed to determine the opinions of general high school students in the Ministry of National Education in Muratpaşa District of Antalya, individual survey model was used.

#### **Population and Sampling**

Population of the study consists of 14.185 students studying in 16 different high schools where the Project FATIH is carried out in Muratpaşa district of Antalya Province in 2012 - 2013 academic year. While considering the Alpha level as .05, the sampling calculation is performed by the formula below (Özdamar, 2003:116-118). (N: Number of units of population, n: Sampling size,  $Z_{\alpha}$ :  $\alpha$ = (for 0.05) 1.96, d= Sampling error,  $\sigma$ = Standard deviation of the population)

$$n = \frac{N. \sigma. Z\alpha}{(N-1). d^2}$$

As a result of this calculation, a random sampling that has 375 (3%) students in 16 different high schools in which the Project FATIH was being carried out was used.

#### **Data Collection Tool**

While trying to determine the opinions of general high school students on the use of the Project FATIH, a literature review was carried out and the questionnaires in the literature were investigated. The survey titled "Survey for the Project FATIH" which was prepared by the team of the Project FATIH working for the Ministry of National Education was redesigned and survey's items were adapted for students. Items obtained after literature review were also added to the survey and so a survey that has a total of 40 items was obtained. This survey was necessary to be used because opinions of students could be revealed by the points it deals. To perform the analysis on the opinions, the survey played a key role to gather data from participants. Since the validity and the reliability of the survey redesigned would be implemented, for that pre-analyze process, there was no need to work on the survey prepared by the Ministry of National Education. After taking the experts' opinions for the redesigned survey's items, the survey in a format of 5-point Likert type that has the options "Strongly agree, agree, neutral, disagree, strongly disagree" was delivered to general high school students. The analysis of the quantitative data was made by considering the range analysis of 5-point Likert Scale: (1,00 - 1,80) Very low, (1,81 - 2,60): Low, (2,61 - 3,40): Medium, (3,41 - 4,20): High, (4,21 - 5,00): Very high

#### Analysis

For the overall objective of the study, data collected in order to find answers for the sub-problems was entered directly into the computer and to perform the statistically analysis on data SPSS 13.0 and LISREL 8.54 software packages were used. To determine the opinions on the use of the Project FATIH, by the help of the software package SPSS, frequency (f), percentage (%), mean, standard deviation, t-Test, LSD and one-way ANOVA analysis tests were used. In the study, for the evaluation of all statistical analysis, 0.05 was accepted as the significance level.

According to the exploratory analysis, the value of Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) test result was .822 and Bartlett's Sphericity test result was 5375 (p > .000). This test measures the adequacy of the sampling size and deals with the size of the sampling. To do that, the size of correlation coefficients and partial correlation coefficients are compared. If the value found by KMO test is below 0.50, it can be said that the value is out of the accepted level, if the value is 0.60, average acceptance; if it is 0.70, good; if it is 0.80, very good; and if it is 0.90, the acceptance level is perfect (Karagöz & Kösterelioğlu, 2008:86-87). In this study, it was seen that KMO test value was higher than 0.60 and Bartlett Sphericity test was meaningful; so factor analysis was be able to be applied for the data.

As a result of factor analysis, to determine under how many factors the survey items were grouped and the compliance of the items' weight, the result of the principal components were investigated. When looked at "Total Variance Explained", it was seen that survey's items were grouped under 10 factors. After offering 5 factors, the Eigen values were 23,370%, 13,525%, 9,892%, 6,647%, and 5,736%; by the way the rate of the total variance explained was also 59,170%.

After the calculations for the validity of the survey above, Cronbach Alpha coefficients were calculated for each of factors separately and for the whole of the survey for reliability. The total reliability level of all factors was .8500. Five factors were also named as "The use of E-content", "Training Requirement", "Teaching Processes",

"Self-Adequacy and Project Yields", and "Institution Adequacy" and they had the reliability levels .7990, .8770, .8680, .8010, and .7440 respectively.

After performing the exploratory factor analysis, to verify the factoring structure, a confirmatory factor analysis was applied. As a result of confirmatory factor analysis (Figure 1), fit indexes were ( $\chi 2/df$ ) = 2.441, RMSEA=0,075, GFI=0,88, and AGFI=0,83. Analysed fit indexes, it was seen that the value of  $\chi 2/df$  was in the range of acceptance and the values of RMSEA, GFI, and AGFI were very close to acceptance range. As a result, the 5-factor structure of the survey was strengthened by the confirmatory factor analysis. Fit indexes of the model and the range of acceptance are given in Table 1.

Table 1. Values of Confirmatory Factor Analysis and Fit Indexes of the Survey about the Opinions of Students on the Use of the Project FATIH

Values	χ²/df	RMSEA	GFI	AGFI
Model	2,441	0,075	0,88	0,83
Criteria	2-3 *	0,05 - 0,08 *	0,90 - 0,95 *	0,85 - 0,90 *

\* Accepted ranges (Schermelleh-Engel, Moosbrugger ve Müler, 2003:52)



Figure 1: Model of Confirmatory Factor Analysis of the Survey about the Opinions of Students on the Use of the Project FATIH

### **Findings and Interpretations**

This section consists of the findings and interpretations obtained by analysing the data of problem statement and sub-problems' statement.

#### **Demographic Characteristics of Students**

370 students who were studying in general high schools participated in this research. 193 (52,2%) of students were female and 177 (49,1%) were male. 156 (42,2%) of the students were studying in the branch of Science while 110 (29,7%) of them were studying in Turkish-Math and 13 (4,3%) of them were studying in social science. If we look at the education level of the students, it is seen that 89 (24,1%) of the students are in 9<sup>th</sup>

grade level, 120 (32,4%) of them are in  $10^{\text{th}}$  grade level, 90 (24,3%) of them are in  $11^{\text{th}}$  grade level, and 71 (19,2%) of them are in  $12^{\text{th}}$  grade level.

#### Opinions of General High School Students on the Use of the Project FATIH in General

Findings related to general high schools students' use of the project FATIH are given in Table 2.

Table 2. General High School Students' Opinions on the Use of the Project FATIH in General

Factor	$\overline{X}$	SD
Use of E-Content	3,1650	,82455
Training Requirement	2,8422	1,22812
Teaching Processes	3,5724	,84235
Self-Adequacy and Project Yields	3,7591	,85966
Institution Adequacy	2,7419	1,01576

General high school students' use of the Project FATIH had an average value in terms of the factors "use of econtent" ( $\bar{X} = 3,17$ ), "training requirement' $\bar{X}$ (=2,84), and "institution adequacy "(=2,74); and it had a high value in terms of the factors titled "teaching processes"(=3,57) and "self-adequacy and project yields"(=3,76).

Looking at the averages above, it can be said that general high school students considered themselves as enough for the use of the project and they had a high level of positive opinion on the yields of the project; however, for the stage of the project implementation, the students did not consider their institution as sufficient.

#### General High School Students' Opinions on the Use of the Project FATIH According to Gender Variable

Examining the data in Table 3, it was seen that there was no difference in the opinions of the students in terms of the factors "use of e-content" [ $t_{(368)} = 0,59$ ; p>,05], "training requirement" [ $t_{(368)} = -0,30$ ; p>,05], "teaching processes" [ $t_{(368)} = -0,42$ ; p>,05], "self-adequacy and project yields" [ $t_{(368)} = 0,13$ ; p>,05], and "adequacy of institution" [ $t_{(368)} = -0,06$ ; p>,05] according to gender variable.

Table 3. t-Test Results for General High School Students' Opinions on the Use of the Project FATIH According to Gender Variable

Factor	Gender	Ν	$\overline{X}$	S	df	t	р
Use of e-	Man	177	3,19	,84	2.60	,59	5.50
content	Woman	193	3,14	,80	368		,553
Training requirement	Man	177	2,82	1,26	269	20	760
	Woman	193	2,86	1,19	308	-,50	,700
Teaching processes	Man	177	3,55	,84	269	-,42	(71
	Woman	193	3,59	,83	308		,071
Self-adequacy	Man	177	3,76	,85	0.60	12	800
and Project yields	Woman	193	3,75	,86	368	,13	,890
Institution adequacy	Man	177	2,73	1,01	268		0.40
	Woman	193	2,74	1,02	308	-,06	,949
	*p<.05, **p<	<.01, ***p<.00	1				

Male ( $\overline{X} = 3,19$ ) and female ( $\overline{X} = 3,14$ ) students mentioned that the use of e-content in the lessons had an average level and likewise male ( $\overline{X} = 2,82$ ) and female ( $\overline{X} = 2,86$ ) students had an average level of opinion on whether they needed an education for the use of the project or not. The reason for these results may be the fact

that students get familiar with the technology so earlier that they have a high level of ability to use technological devices. In respect to the factor "teaching processes" male ( $\overline{X} = 3,55$ ) and female ( $\overline{X} = 3,59$ ) students agreed that the curriculum and the project had a high level of integration. Both men ( $\overline{X} = 3,76$ ) and women ( $\overline{X} = 3,75$ ) students' average scores showed that they had a high level of self-adequacy on the use of the project and also they had a high level of opinion on the yields of the project. Examined the results obtained for the factor "institution adequacy", it can be said that both male ( $\overline{X} = 2,73$ ) and female ( $\overline{X} = 2,74$ ) students had an average level of opinion. By this result, it can be thought that both genders did not consider their institution as enough for the use of the project FATIH.

#### General High School Students' Opinions on the Use of the Project FATIH According to Branch Variable

Examining Table 4, it was seen that there was no meaningful difference between students grouped by their branches in terms of the factors "use of e-content"  $[F_{(2-276)}=0,819, p<.05]$ , "training requirement"  $[F_{(2-276)}=0,912, p<.05]$ , "teaching processes"  $[F_{(2-276)}=0,912, p<.05]$ , "self-adequacy and project yields"  $[F_{(2-276)}=0,962, p<.05]$ , and "institution adequacy"  $[F_{(2-276)}=2,792, p<.05]$ .

Table 4. One-Way ANOVA and LSD Tests Results for General High School Students' Opinions on the Use of the Project FATIH According to Branch Variable

Factor	Source o	of Sum of	Degree of freedom	Mean square	F	р	Meaningful
Use of e	Botwoon	1 044	2	522	<b>8</b> 10	442	None
content	groups	1,044	2	,322	,019	,442	None
content	Within	175,914	276	.637			
	groups	1,0,911	210	,007			
	Total	183 738	278				
	1 Science	$(3.09 \times 0.82)2$	Turkish-Math (	3 08 S 0 76) 3 S	ocial Scie	nces (2.80	S·0 79)
Training	Between	1 365	2	683	476	622	None
requirement	groups	1,505	-	,005	,170	,022	rione
requirement	Within	395 518	276	1 433			
	groups	575,510	270	1,455			
	Total	396.884	278				
	1. Science (	2,82, S:1,16) 2. 7	Furkish-Math (2.	94, S:1,24) 3. So	cial Scien	ces (2,67,	S:1,25)
Teaching	Between	1,374	2	,687	,912	,403	None
processes	groups	,		,	<i>,</i>	<i>,</i>	
	Within	207,835	276	,753			
	groups						
	Total	209,209	278				
	1. Science (	3,45, S:0,90) 2. T	Furkish-Math (3,	55, S:0,81) 3. So	cial Scien	ces (3,26,	S:0,99)
Self-adequacy	Between	,059	2	,029	,039	,962	None
and Project	groups						
yields	Within	209,893	276	,760			
	groups						
	Total	209,952	278				
	1. Science (	3,64, S:0,95) 2. T	Furkish-Math (3,	62, S:0,72) 3. So	cial Scien	ces (3,58,	S:1,05)
Institution	Between	5,289	2	2,644	2,792	,063	None
adequacy	groups						
	Within	261,375	276	,947			
	groups						
	Total	266,664	278				
	1. Science (2	2,66, S:0,96) 2. T	Furkish-Math (2,	73, S:1,02) 3. So	cial Scien	ces (2,55,	S:0,68)
	*p<.05, **p	<.01, ***p<.001					

Although there was no statistically significant difference between students in respect to their branches, it was obvious that students studying on social sciences had a lower positive opinion on the factors "teaching processes" ( $\overline{X}$  =3,26 and "institution adequacy" ( $\overline{X}$  =2,05) than students studying on other branches. While students studying on the branches science and Turkish-Math had a high level of positive opinion on teaching processes and the integration of the project, students studying on social sciences had an average level of positive opinion. Moreover, while students in science and Turkish-Math branches considered their institutions as moderate enough for the implementation of the project, students in social sciences branch thought that their institution was not enough for the use of the project.

# General High School Students' Opinions on the Use of the Project FATIH According to Education Level Variable

As seen in Table 5, in respect to education level variable, there was a meaningful difference between student groups in terms of the factor "use of e-content"  $[F_{(3-366)}=4,367, p<.05]$ . According to the LSD test which dealt with determining in which groups this difference occured, it was obvious that there was a difference between 9<sup>th</sup> grade students ( $\bar{X} = 3,4204$ ) and the others (10<sup>th</sup> grade ( $\bar{X} = 3,1685$ ), 11<sup>th</sup> grade ( $\bar{X} = 3,0054$ ), 12<sup>th</sup> grade( $\bar{X} = 3,0412$ )). Examined the averages, it can be said that 9<sup>th</sup> grade students thought that there was a high level of e-content usage in their lessons while the rest grade level of students thought that there was a moderate level of usage.

Analysed "training requirements" factor  $[F_{(3-366)}=1,021, p<.05]$ , there was no difference between student groups 9th grade ( $\overline{X}=2,7621$ ), 10th grade ( $\overline{X}=2,8754$ ), 11th grade ( $\overline{X}=2,9992$ ), and 12th grade ( $\overline{X}=2,6876$ ). According to the averages, students in all grade levels needed training related with the use of the project's elements at a medium level.

Table 5. One-Way ANOVA and LSD Tests Results for General High School Students' Opinions on the Use of
the Project FATIH According to Education Level Variable

Factor	Source	of Sum of	Degree	of	Mean square	F	р	Meaningful
Use of e-	Between	<u> </u>	needoni	3	3.062	4 637**	003	1-2 1-3 1-4
content	groups	,,100		5	3,002	1,007	,005	12,13,11
	Within	241,688		366	,660			
	groups	,			,			
	Total	250,874		369				
	1.9 <sup>th</sup> grade	(3,42, S:0,82) 2.	10 <sup>th</sup> grade	(3,17,	S:0,77) 3. 11 <sup>th</sup> s	grade (3,01	, S:0,83) 4.	$12^{th}$ grade (3,04,
	S:0,85)		U		,, ,		, , ,	0 ()
Training	Between	4,620		3	1,540	1,021	,383	None
requirement	groups							
	Within	551,933		366	1,508			
	groups							
	Total	556,553		369				
	1.9 <sup>th</sup> grade	(2,76, S:1,30) 2	. 10 <sup>th</sup> grade	(2,88,	S:1,22) 3. 11 <sup>th</sup>	grade (3,00	, S:1,16) 4.	12 <sup>th</sup> grade (2,69,
	S:1,25)					-		-
Teaching	Between	10,162		3	3,387	4,926**	,002	1-2, 1-3, 1-4
processes	groups							
	Within	251,663		366	,688			
	groups							
	Total	261,825		369				
	1.9 <sup>th</sup> grade	(3,86, S:0,69) 2	. 10 <sup>th</sup> grade	(3,52,	S:0,80) 3. 11 <sup>th</sup> g	grade (3,41	, S:0,95) 4.	$12^{\text{th}}$ grade (3,52,
	S:0,87)							
Self-adequacy	Between	26,630		3	8,877	13,203	,000	1-2, 1-3, 1-4,
and Project	groups					***		2-3,
yields	Within	246,066		366	,672			
	groups							
	Total	272,696	44	369	46			4h
	1.9 <sup>th</sup> grade	(4,13, S:0,71) 2	. 10 <sup>th</sup> grade	(3,86,	S:0,78) 3. 11 <sup>th</sup> g	grade (3,55	, S:0,79) 4.	$12^{m}$ grade (3,40,
	S:1,02)							
Institution	Between	10,246		3	3,415	3,374**	,019	1-4
adequacy	groups							
	Within	370,477		366	1,012			
	groups							
	Total	380,723	1 oth	369	a o o c) a 1 th	1 (0 = 0	G 1 00) 1	1 oth
	1.9 <sup>44</sup> grade	(2,97, S:1,07) 2	. 10 <sup></sup> grade	(2,76,	S:0,96) 3. 11 <sup>th</sup>	grade (2,70	, S:1,00) 4.	12 <sup>th</sup> grade (2,47,
	<u>S:1,00)</u>	0.1						
	^p<.05. **	p<.01. ***p<.00]	L					

There was a meaningful difference between student group in terms of the factor "teaching processes"  $[F_{(3-366)}=$  4,926, p<.05]. Based on the LSD test detecting this difference and the averages, it can be said that 9<sup>th</sup> grade ( $\overline{X}$  =3,8562) students thought there was a higher level of integration with respect to 10<sup>th</sup> grade ( $\overline{X}$  =3,5187), 11<sup>th</sup>

grade ( $\overline{X} = 3,4086$ ), and 12<sup>th</sup> grade ( $\overline{X} = 3,5151$ ) students. Therefore, it was understood that 9<sup>th</sup> grade students were satisfied with the integration between the present teaching processes and the project at a higher level.

There was also a meaningful difference between the student groups in terms of the factor "Self-adequacy and project yields". According to LSD test results, this difference occured between 9<sup>th</sup> grade ( $\overline{X}$  =4,1284) students and students in all other grades; 10<sup>th</sup> grade ( $\overline{X}$  =3,8581), 11<sup>th</sup> grade ( $\overline{X}$  =3,5468), and 12<sup>th</sup> grade ( $\overline{X}$  =3,3979). Averages indicated that 9<sup>th</sup> grade students thought they were more sufficient for the application of the project than other grades. In addition they also thought that materials offered by the project would make a considerable contribution to the education processes.

In addition to those differences above, there was also a difference between student groups in the factor "institution adequacy" [ $F_{(3-366)}$ = 3,374, p<.05]. According to LSD test, it was seen that this difference occured between 9<sup>th</sup> grade ( $\overline{X}$  =2,9745) and 12<sup>th</sup> grade ( $\overline{X}$  =3,2408) students. Analysed the means, although both groups believed that their institution was moderate enough for the application of the project, 12<sup>th</sup> grade students had more positive opinion on this factor than 9th grade students.

## **Conclusion and Suggestions**

Among students, analysed their opinions on the use of the Project FATIH, there was no meaningful difference in respect of all factors. Within the factors "use of e-content", "training requirement", and "institution adequacy", without being dependent from gender variable, students had a moderate level of positive view while they had a high level of positive view in terms of the factors "teaching processes" and "self-adequacy and project yields". Although there was no meaningful difference in the opinions of students according to gender variable, when we analysed the mean values, it was seen that women students had more positive views than men students. This result is also consistent with the results of the study performed by Işıksal and Aşkar (2003). Both genders did not consider their institution as enough for the implementation of the project. This result can be explained by their age, by having a lifestyle that is full of technological devices, and by expectations of being presented those technological devices also in the schools as they get very familiar with the technology so early.

Examined the opinions of general high school students on the use the Project FATIH dependent on branch variable, there was no meaningful differences in all factors. According to branch variable, students thought that they needed a training on the use of the project and the use of e-content presented by the project in their lessons were in a moderate level. On the other hand, for the factor "self-adequacy and project yields" they had a high level of positive opinion. Although there was no meaningful difference in the factors "institution adequacy" and "teaching processes", when the mean values were analysed, it might be said that students studying in the social sciences had a lower level of positive opinion than other fields. This result gave an idea to us about that in each element of teaching processes faced by social sciences students, there was no enough update for the project and also about that the components of the project were not used efficiently in their lessons.

Dependent on the education level variable, there were meaningful differences in the opinions of the student for all factors except the factor "training requirement". All students, independent of their grade level, thought that they needed training in a moderate level for the use of the project. About the use of e-content in their lessons, 9<sup>th</sup> grade students thought that there was a high level of usage while all other grade levels thought there was a moderate level of usage. For the factor "institution adequacy", 12<sup>th</sup> grade students thought that their institution was not enough for the implementation of the project while other groups thought that the institution had a moderate level of adequacy. Analysed the mean values of the factor "teaching processes", it might be seen that the meaningful difference occurred between 9<sup>th</sup> grade students and all other grade levels. Although there was a meaningful difference between groups, students in all grade levels thought that an update in teaching processes for supporting the implementation of the Project FATIH was necessary. According to the mean values, 9<sup>th</sup> grade level students' reason for having a high level of positive opinion on the use of e-content might be explained by they had lots of e-content prepared for their grade level. Having lots of e-content but not having those materials integrated with the current curriculum as well could be shown as the cause of 9<sup>th</sup> grade level students' discomfort. Moreover, it might be thought that high level of e-content usage in 9<sup>th</sup> grade level affected students' high level of expectations on the changes provided by the Project FATIH and students' perceptions of selfadequacy directly.

In the scope of the Project FATIH, installations of interactive smart boards in the schools were completed and it was found that the students had high level of expectations from the project. However, it was also found that

students thought the hardware settings were not enough to apply the project. It was necessary that the lack of hardware infrastructure should be identified and fulfilled by the authorities. Moreover, there should be a team of technicians to solve immediately the problems occurring in schools.

In this study, curriculum and classroom activities are known as the factor "teaching processes". These components should be in coherence with the interactive smart boards and e-content such as animations, simulations, online question banks, and online exams and also these components should be presented in an online platform.

A collaboration between Ministry of National Education and Higher Education Board should be established to train teacher candidates for preparing and managing the e-contents in education faculties. By doing that, teacher candidates will be ready for the use of the Project FATIH and so that students will benefit from their teachers at a maximum level.

The Project FATIH has started to be carried out in general high schools in 2012 - 2013 academic year, and then on it is going to be carried out in all primary and secondary schools. In the studies related with this subject, researchers may expand the population to primary and secondary schools' principals, teachers, and students. By doing that a general opinion of different kinds in terms of the role in school can be obtained for the use of the project.

## References

- Aggarwal, A. (2000). Web-Based Learning and Teaching Technologies: Opportunities and Challenges. Hershey-USA: Idea Group Publishing.
- Ajjan, H., & Hartshorne, R. (2008). Investigating faculty decisions to adopt web 2.0 technologies: Theory and empirical tests. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 11 (2), 71-80.
- Akpınar, Y., Bal, V., Şimşek, H. (2005). E-Portfolyolarla Öğrenme Ortamı Geliştirme ve Destekleme Platformu. *The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 4(4), 125-129.
- Alkan, C. (1997). Eğitim Teknolojisi. Ankara: Anı Publishing
- Alkan, C., Deryakulu, D. ve Şimşek, N. (1995). Eğitim Teknolojisine Giriş: Disiplin, Süreç, Ürün. Ankara: Önder Publishing.
- Bayturan, S. (2008). Ortaöğretim Matematik Eğitiminde Bilgisayar Destekli Öğretimin Öğrencilerin Başarıları, Tutumları ve Bilgisayar Öz - Yeterlik Algıları Üzerindeki Etkisi. PhD Thesis. Dokuz Eylül Üniversitesi, İzmir.
- Cuban, L., Kirkpatrick, H., & Peck, C. (2001). High access and low use of technologies in high school classrooms: Explaining an apparent paradox. American Educational Research Journal, 38(4), 813-834.
- Çilenti, K. (1998). Eğitim Teknolojisi ve Öğretim. Ankara: Kadıoğlu Publishing.
- Dinçer, S., Şenkal, O., Sezgin, M.E. (Ocak, 2013). Fatih Projesi Kapsamında Öğretmen, Öğrenci ve Veli Koordinasyonu ve Bilgisayar Okuryazarlık Düzeyleri. Sözel bildiri, Akademik Bilişim, Akdeniz Ünivesitesi - Antalya.
- Dunning, J. H. (1993). The Globalization of Business: The Challenge of the 1990s. London: Routledge.
- Heafner, T. (2004). Using Technology to Motivate Students to Learn Social Studies. *Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education*, 4(1), 42-53.
- Hew, K., F. & Brush, T. (2007). Integrating technology into K-12 teaching and Learning: current knowledge gaps and recommendations for future research. *Education Technology Research & Development*, 55, 223–252
- Işık, O. (1981). *Teknoloji Üretimi, Teknoloji Transferi*. 2. Türkiye Sanayi Komisyonu Tebliğleri, İzmir: DPT Publishing No: 1783
- Işıksal, M. & Aşkar, P. (2003). İlköğretim Öğrencileri İçin Matematik ve Bilgisayar Öz-Yeterlik Algısı Ölçekleri, *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 25, 109-118
- İnel, D., Evrekli, E., Balım, A. G. (2011). Öğretmen Adaylarının Fen ve Teknoloji Dersinde Eğitim Teknolojilerinin Kullanılmasına İlişkin Görüşleri. *Afyon Kocatepe Üniversitesi Kuramsal Eğitim Bilim Dergisi*, 4(2), 128 150.
- Karagöz, Y., Kösterelioğlu, İ. (2008). İletişim Becerileri Değerlendirme Ölçeğinin Faktör Analizi Metodu İle Geliştirilmesi, *Dumlupınar Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 21, 81 98.
- Kırbağ-Zengin, F., Kırılmazkaya, G., & Keçeci, G. (Eylül, 2011). Akıllı tahta kullanımının ilköğretim öğrencilerinin fen ve teknoloji dersindeki başarı ve tutuma etkisi. Bildiri, 5. Uluslararası Bilgisayar ve Öğretim Teknolojileri Eğitimi Sempozyumu, Elazığ

- Fırat Üniversitesi (2011).McNeill, W. H. (2003). *Dünya Tarihi*. (çev. Alâeddin Şenel), (7. Ed.). Ankara: İmge Publishing
- MEB. (2013). FATİH Projesi. Web: http://fatihprojesi.meb.gov.tr adresinden 22.02.2013 tarihinde indirilmiştir.
- Nakip, M. (2003). Pazarlama Araştırmaları Teknikler ve (SPSS Destekli) Uygulamalar. Ankara: Seçkin Publishing.
- Orhan, F. ve Akkoyunlu, B. (2003). Eğitici Bilgisayar Formatör (Master) Öğretmenlerinin Profilleri ve Uygulamada Karşılaştıkları Güçlüklere İlişkin Görüşleri. *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi* Dergisi, 24, 90 100.
- Öncü, S. (2013). Eğitimde Sistemik Değişim, K. Çağıltay ve Y. Göktaş. (Editors). Öğretim Teknolojilerinin Temelleri: Teoriler, AraştırmalarEğilimler. 373-396 (First Ed.). Ankara: Pegem A Publishing.
- Özdamar, K. (2003). Modern bilimsel araştırma yöntemleri. Eskişehir: Kaan Publishing
- Pamuk, S., Çakır, R., Ergun, M. & Yılmaz, H. B. (2013). Öğretmen ve Öğrenci Bakış Açısıyla Tablet PC ve Etkileşimli Tahta Kullanımı: FATİH Projesi Değerlendirmesi. *Kuram ve Uygulamada Eğitim Bilimleri*, 13(3), 1799-1822.
- Perkmen S. & Tezci, E. (2011). Eğitimde Teknoloji Entegrasyonu. Ankara: Pegem A Publishing.
- Rıza, E. T. (1997). Eğitim Teknolojisi Uygulamaları-1. İzmir: Anadolu Publishing.
- Roblyer, M.,& Edwards, J. (2005). *Integrating Educational Technology into Teaching*. (4th Ed.) Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice –Hall.
- Serehmelleh-Engel, K., Moosbrugger, H., Müller, H. (2003). Evaluating the Fit of Structural Equation Models: Test of Significance and Descriptive Goodness-of-Fit Measures, *Methods of Psychological Research Online*, 8(2), 23-74.
- Sünkür, M., Arabacı, İ.B., & Şanlı, Ö. (2012). Akıllı tahta uygulamaları konusunda ilköğretim II. kademe öğrencilerinin görüşleri (Malatya ili örneği). E-Journal of New World Sciences Academy, 7 (1), 313-321.
- Taşçı, D. (1993). Türkiye'de Bilgisayar Destekli Öğretimin Yönetimi ve Bir Model Önerisi. PhD Thesis. Anadolu Üniversitesi, Eskişehir.
- Taylor, R.P. (1980). The Computer in School: Tutor-Tool-Tutee. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Uşun, S. (2004). Bilgisayar Destekli Öğretimin Temelleri. Ankara: Nobel Publishing
- Yılmaz, K., Horzum, B., M. (2005). Küreseleşme, Bilgi Teknolojileri ve Üniversite. İnönü Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 6(10), 103 121.



# International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research (IJCER)

www.ijcer.net

Information on Coordinate System as a Tool for Developing Mathematical Thinking

**Ilana Levenberg**<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup> Gordon Academic College of Education

## To cite this article:

Levenberg, I. (2015). Information on coordinate system as a tool for developing mathematical thinking. *International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research*, 2(1), 46-53.

This article may be used for research, teaching, and private study purposes.

Any substantial or systematic reproduction, redistribution, reselling, loan, sub-licensing, systematic supply, or distribution in any form to anyone is expressly forbidden.

Authors alone are responsible for the contents of their articles. The journal owns the copyright of the articles.

The publisher shall not be liable for any loss, actions, claims, proceedings, demand, or costs or damages whatsoever or howsoever caused arising directly or indirectly in connection with or arising out of the use of the research material.



## Information on Coordinate System as a Tool for Developing Mathematical Thinking

**Ilana Levenberg**<sup>1\*</sup> <sup>1</sup> Gordon Academic College of Education

## Abstract

The present paper presents activities tested and tried in class, which are designed to promote and develop mathematics knowledge, based on visual illustrations .It presents activities designed to stimulate creative thinking while developing mathematical thinking and more thorough comprehension of the meaning of information in an axes system. Activities like those, as a multi-disciplinary practice, will entail pupils' better and more meaningful learning of mathematics and will enrich knowledge of this subject. Furthermore, being well acquainted with unusual graphic representations will greatly enhance the study of algebra and other mathematics subjects later on.

Key words: Coordinate System, Graphic representation, Meaningful learning, Creative thinking

## Introduction

Everyday events or processes can be presented in various ways; one of them is graphic representation by axes. There are different graphic representations which enable us to get a visual picture of the information as well as an option of using them for making calculations, comparison of sizes and shifts from one representation to another.

Information presented by an axis offers numerous options of mathematical activity at different thinking levels, starting at elementary school where pupils are first exposed to the axes and up to the high grades of high school. Moreover, introducing technology into mathematics study enables expansion of computer-aided mathematical activities, thus facilitating graphic drawings in an axes system.

In the curriculum and in textbooks, axes are mainly presented with numerical values. In this way learners are exposed to the meaning of the points indicated on the graph. Reading information from such a system constitutes an initial basis for comprehending the values of the points and the graphic descriptions.

This paper presents activities designed to stimulate creative thinking while developing mathematical thinking and more thorough comprehension of the meaning of information in an axes system. This is done without any numerical values on the axes as is prevalent in most textbooks. Furthermore, being well acquainted with unusual graphic representations will greatly enhance the study of algebra and other mathematics subjects later on.

## **Theoretical Background**

## Developing mathematical and creative thinking within the framework of mathematics lessons

Research of mathematics education (Gazit & Patkin, 2009; Leikin et al., 2009; Shriki, 2010; Levav-Waynberg, & Leikin, 2012) reinforces the need for seeking various ways of developing mathematical thinking and creativity. One of the ways of promoting this issue is the presentation of exceptional activities which require 'out of the box' mathematical thinking.

Teaching mathematics at elementary school usually focuses on the inculcation of algorithms and through them acquaintance with logical thinking which complies with the rules of mathematics. All these leave mathematics

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding Author: Ilana Levenberg, dveer@netvision.net.il

teachers a little time and latitude for open-ended activities which facilitate expression of creative thinking. In fact, only when teachers' objective is to develop higher-order thinking should they implement even some of the recommendations made by Resnick (1987). For example: design assignments which allow learners to find several solutions, activities requiring use of different criteria or activities which are not algorithm-based.

In his paper, Mann (2006) reviews the different definitions of creativity in mathematics. He argues that when learners graduate, they are adequately capable of calculating and performing algorithms but are unable to apply this knowledge in a meaningful way. According to him, teaching mathematics with no investment in the promotion of creativity does not allow learners to see the beauty of mathematics. Moreover, it prevents talented and gifted learners from developing their special skills in this subject.

To sum up, the frameworks of mathematical activities prevalent in class and their levels are dictated by the textbooks. The way they are presented to learners depends mainly on mathematics teachers. The higher teachers' awareness of developing mathematical and creative thinking is, the better they will know how to cope with the challenge.

#### Graphic representations and the teaching

Since the beginning of the 21stcentury, graphic representations have become much more common and available in any field, not only in mathematics but also in other sciences. New technological tools allow an almost immediate translation of information about varied subjects into different graphic representations. Shah & Freedman (2011) showed that between the years 1984-1994 the number of graphic representations in academic magazines has doubled. This is also demonstrated in daily newspapers. Graphs have turned into the tangible, available and easiest 'tool' for presenting information of all types. Consequently, it has become necessary to enhance the issue of teaching graphs at schools and higher education institutions as part of the inculcation of scientific literacy.

Moreover, scientific research of graphs has increasingly expanded. For example, Berg & Smith (1994) investigated the way learners read and explain information presented by a graph. They identified a significant relation between learners' logical thinking capability and graphing skills. Other studies (Canham & Hegarty, 2010; Cook, Wiebe & Carter, 2008; Hipkins, 2011) explored what affects learners' mastery in graphs. The findings illustrate that in addition to the learners' thinking capability, educators' teaching strategies and learning the use of computers while teaching the subject arealso important. All these factors combined together affect learners' capability of creating new graphs and explaining the information presented to them.

The study conducted by Carpenter & Shah (1998) presents the three stages of becoming versed in the issue of graphs. First, learners should be acquainted with the visual part, namely the representative shape of the graph, the importance of the shape and its representative features. Second, they have to know the numerical and quantitative components and what they represent. Third, they should connect the quantitative and graphic part of the conclusions.

As to the determination of learners' knowledge of graphs, Wainer (1992) suggests the type of questions which can be asked: Basic level questions which relate to data extraction; intermediate level questions which engage in trends emerging from the information; and high level questions which deal with the depth of the information meaning while comparing trends.

To sum up, the research literature (Friel, 2001; Shah& Freedman, 2011; Wang, 2012) classifies the information presented by graphs into three types which also represent the various thinking levels required by learners.

1. Explicit information – this information is usually presented already in the axis names and it is easily identified.

Tacit information – for obtaining this information, learners should examine more thoroughly what is represented by the graph. For that purpose mathematics knowledge (basic or advanced) is necessary.
 Conclusive information – the highest level of information which requires reasoning and justification by means of mathematical tools in order to draw the conclusions.

#### Acquaintance with René Descartes as an introduction to the teaching of the Cartesian Coordinates

"Cogito ergo sum" – I think, therefore I am (René Descartes)

René Descartes, the French mathematician and philosopher (1596-1650), was the first to come up with the idea of accurately presenting the location of points on the plane and later in space. He conceived the idea while serving in the army as an officer on the banks of the Danube. Some say that the innovation was created following a dream-vision. Descartes delayed publishing his invention and only in 1637 he printed his treatise *Discourse on the method* – a method through which he presented his philosophical concept "The method of leading intelligence in the right way". At the end of the treatise there are three appendices. The third appendix, which is 106-page long, is entitled: "Geometry" and includes Descartes' greatest contribution to science: every point on a plane can be presented by means of a pair of real numbers. The mathematician and philosopher Leibnitz invented calculus at the same time as Newton during the second half of the  $17^{th}$  century and called it on the name of the person who conceived it: 'Cartesian Coordinates System' (Gazit, 2004).

The "Cartesian Coordinates System" – is derived from Descartes, a name which is pronounced 'Cartesius' in Latin. The Cartesian Coordinates System is defined by two straight lines called axes which are usually located at a right angle. The horizontal axis is indicated by X and the vertical axis by Y. The point of intersection of the axes is called *origin of the axes*. In order to indicate a certain point on the axes system, we indicate the values of the X and the values of the Y on the point, thus creating the ordered pair of numbers(X,Y). The expression "Cartesian Coordinates System" serves only in 2 and a 3-dimensional space.

This system paved the way to analytical geometry and modern mathematics. It is inconceivable to imagine the existence of numerous developments in mathematics and their implementation without the Cartesian Coordinates System. Hence, we should start teaching this subject by first presenting Descartes and his extensive contribution to mathematics in general and to the subject of axes in particular. The narrative behind the invention of the Cartesian Coordinates System and their mathematical development in future generations should be the basis for the study of this essential subject. Teachers can tell the learners about Descartes who saw a fly on the wall and conceived the idea of an axes system as a mathematical tool by means of which one can present the walking course of the fly and the possibility of presenting at any given moment its location on the wall.

### Examples of activities based on reading information from a graph

The following activities promote and enhance mastery in reading information presented by axes. The activities bridge between mathematics learnt in class and occurrences in the learners' environment. Moreover, this kind of activities can facilitate better understanding of the topic of functions which will be studied later.

For the purpose of presenting information or reading it from a graph, learners need first to be acquainted with axes and understand the meaning of the graph and its various representations. In order to draw conclusions based on a graphic representation, mathematics knowledge as well as logical thinking capability are also required.

#### **Preliminary activity:**

Please write in words what is presented in the graph below, your conclusions and insights.



Acquaintance with and comprehension of the above graph while writing or verbalising things enables moving to the next activities which are more complex and require coping with higher-level assignments.

#### Suggestions for teaching the subject in class:

a. Ask the learners to 'tell', describe in writing or orally what the narrative of the graph is.

- b. Ask the learners to 'tell', describe in writing or orally each of the assertions and indicate which of them are correct and according to which graphs.
- c. Ask the learners to raise additional questions for a given graph.
- d. Present examples from the press or from everyday life in order to describe a real graph.

Activity No. 1 is the easiest and requires only initial and basic knowledge of reading information. Activity No. 2 requires a higher-level thinking as well as a capability of formulating assertions and drawing conclusions about a graph which is not explicit. Here too the issue of creative thinking development is integrated.

#### Activity No. 1

Below are graphs which describe information about two snacks, 'Aces' and 'Champions'. The **`Knight`** snack bag is marked with the letter **K** and the **'Champions'** snack bag is marked with the letter **C**.

#### Graph No. 1:



- I. Check each of the following assertions and indicate which of them are correct and according to which graphs.
  - 1. The `Knight`snack is cheaper than the 'Champions' snack.
  - 2. The 'Knight' snack bag weighs more than the 'Champions' snack bag.

- 3. The `Knight` snacks are better for weight watchers.
- 4. The `Knight`snack has more vitamins than the 'Champions' snack.
- 5. The `Knight`snack is of higher quality than the 'Champions' snack.

II. Please indicate the location of snacks K and C in the axes system, according to the information obtained from the previous graphs.





### Activity No. 2.

The following graphs describe facts associated with two shopping centers, 'Knights' Mall and 'Princes' Mall. The **'Knights'** Mall is marked with the letter **K** and the **'Princes'** Mall is marked with the letter **P**.





Graph No. 3



- I. Check each of the following assertions and indicate which of them are correct and according to which graphs.
  - 1. In the 'Princes' Mall the level of cleanliness is lower than in the 'Knights' Mall.
  - 2. In the more popular mall there are more parking places.
  - 3. In the mall where the level of service is low, parking is free of charge.
  - 4. In the mall with a small number of parking places, the number of customers is higher.
- II. Here is another fact: in the mall where the number of shops is greater, the prices are higher.
- III. Use the information in the previous item and in the previous graphs in order to indicate the malls (points P and K) in the following axis systems.



- a. Based on all the information you have about the two malls, please formulate three assertions which are correct and three assertions which are incorrect.
- b. Which assertions were easier to formulate, the correct or the incorrect ones? Please give reasons for your answer.

## **Discussion and Conclusions**

The activities described above were given to learners in elementary school ( $5^{th} - 6^{th}$  grades -42 pupils), junior high school ( $7^{th}$  grade- 24 pupils) and pre-service teachers (35 students at the first year of study).

- a. All three group of population got the same activities.
- b. Despite the fact that the pre- service teachers had much more mathematics knowledge then the school pupils, for most of them this was a new experience.
- c. They were versed in reading 'non-numerical' information yet they found it difficult to decide whether the assertions were correct or not.
- d. All three groups' encountered difficulties in creating new graphs based on prior information.
- e. The next assignment for all the research populations was creating a similar activity about a different subject.
- f. Most of the school learners re-wrote the presented activities with slight changes while only 7 preservice students designed activities which were harder and more complicated than the ones presented to them.

To sum up, learning the subject not by calculating numerical values stimulated development of logical thinking by formulating assertions and practicing 'graphic literacy', which they had not experienced before. The shift from a preliminary and easy activity of reading information on a graph to more complex activities following learners' being asked to design activities by themselves in this spirit actually integrate the two aspects – developing mathematical thinking and creativity.

#### References

- Berg, C.A., & Smith, P. (1994). Assessing students' abilities to construct and interpret line graphs: Disparities between multiple-choice and free-response instruments. *Science Education*, 78(6), 527-554.
- Canham, M., & Hegarty, M. (2010). Effects of knowledge and display design on comprehension of complex graphics. *Learning and Instruction*, 20, 155-166
- Carpenter, P.A., & Shah, P. (1998). A model of the perceptual and conceptual processes in graph comprehension. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, 4(2), 75-100.
- CET Centre for Educational Technology (2004). Various representations of information –Activities for learners. Experimental version (pp. 20-21). Tel Aviv: Centre for Educational Technology. [Hebrew]
- Cook, M., Wiebe, E.N., & Carter, G. (2008). The influence of prior knowledge on viewing and interpreting graphics with macroscopic and molecular representations. *Science Education*, 92(5), 848-867.
- Friel, S.N. (2001). Making sense of graphs: Critical factors influencing comprehension and instructional implications. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, 32(2), 124-158.
- Gazit, A. (2004). *Eureka...! About people who loved to think and calculate*, Kfar-Sava: Geist Publications. [Hebrew]
- Gazit, A., & Patkin, D. (2009). The place of creativity in the solution of exceptional problems of series among elementary school mathematics teachers and pre-service teachers in other disciplines. *Mispar Hazak* (2000), 17, 16.24, Haifa: University of Haifa. [Hebrew]
- Hipkins, R. (2011). Challenges with graph interpretation: A review of the literature. *Studies in Science Education*, 47(2), 183-210.
- Leikin, R., A. Berman & B. Koichu (Eds.) (2009). Creativity in mathematics and the education of gifted students. Rotterdam, the Netherlands: Sense Publisher.
- Levav-Waynberg, A., & Leikin, R. (2012). The role of multiple solution tasks in developingknowledge and creativity in geometry. Journal of Mathematical Behavior, 31, 73–90..
- Levenberg, I. (1995). Graphs. Workshop activity within the framework of the project for the promotion of science and technology studies in the Galil. Haifa: Israel Institute of Technology, Department of Technology and Sciences Teaching. [Hebrew]
- Mann,E.L. (2006).Creativity: The essence of mathematics. *Journal for the education of the gifted*, 30(2), 236-260.
- Resnick, L.(1987). Education and learning to think. National Academy Press. Washington D.C.
- Shah, P., & Freedman, E.G. (2011). Bar and line graph comprehension: An interaction of top-down and bottomup processes. *Topics in Cognitive Science*, 3(3), 560-578.
- Shriki,A.(2010). Working like real mathematicians: developing prospective teachers` awareness of mathematical creativity through generatingnew concepts. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 73(2), 159-179. –

Wainer, H. (1992). Understanding graphs and tables. Educational Researcher, 21(1), 14-23.

Wang,Z.H. (2012). Students' Cognitive Reasoning of Graphs: Characteristics and progression. International Journal of Science Education, 34(13), 2015-2041.



# International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research (IJCER)

www.ijcer.net

## **Reflections on the Importance of Reference for Understanding Thinking**

**Reinhard Oldenburg<sup>1</sup>** <sup>1</sup> Augsburg University, Germany

## To cite this article:

Oldenburg, R. (2015). Reflections on the importance of reference for understanding thinking. *International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research*, 2(1), 54-60.

This article may be used for research, teaching, and private study purposes.

Any substantial or systematic reproduction, redistribution, reselling, loan, sub-licensing, systematic supply, or distribution in any form to anyone is expressly forbidden.

Authors alone are responsible for the contents of their articles. The journal owns the copyright of the articles.

The publisher shall not be liable for any loss, actions, claims, proceedings, demand, or costs or damages whatsoever or howsoever caused arising directly or indirectly in connection with or arising out of the use of the research material.



## **Reflections on the Importance of Reference for Understanding Thinking**

**Reinhard Oldenburg**<sup>1\*</sup> <sup>1</sup>Augsburg University, Germany

## Abstract

An intentional form of the semantics of algebraic expressions in the tradition starting with Frege is popular in mathematics education. On the other hand, mathematical logic including predicate calculus and lambda calculus is dominated for more than 50 years by referential semantics. A third field of investigation is the semantics of mathematics as realized in programming languages and computer algebra systems. The paper explores the tension between these approaches and tries to clarify the role of reference both in he developed mathematics as well as in the learning process. Referential semantics simplifies theories but requires mental objects to be constructed to be useful. This links the topic to reification theory. A small collection of observations of learners' behavior adds support to the claim that reference is of some importance in the learning process.

Key words: Semantics, algebra, variables.

## Introduction

The semantics of logic has been a subject of change for a long time. At least for mainstream mathematics this process has reached a stable state with the works especially of Tarski. Predicate calculus together with set theory has shown to be a powerful combination that fulfills the needs of mathematicians and moreover of computer scientists. In the present paper we investigate the fundamental role of reference in this theory of the semantics of logic language. A brief outline of this is described in section 1. Yet, in mathematics education it is more common to refer to the older semantical theory by Frege. Notably Arzarello et al. (1994, 2001) have dealt with this in detail and came to the conclusion that his intentional semantics is well suited for education (section 2). On the other hand, the modern referential view of logic has advantages in giving a short and concise description of the formal background of mathematics (section 3,4), but may be dangerous as model for what students should be presented (section 3). Hence, the central question that should be clarified is the relation between understanding and reference (section 5). We collect some simple observations that might help in giving an answer to this question (section 6), but find that further research is needed to clarify the situation.

## Predicate Calculus, Lambda Calculus

The notion of reference plays a central role in modern formal mathematics (see e.g. Li 2010). In predicate calculus, formulae are build up from symbols for variables, functions and predicates, logical conjunctions (not, and, or, implication, ...) and quantifiers (for all, exists). The well-formed formulae are described on a purely syntactical level. Meaning is given to them by fixing an interpretation that consists of a domain and an assignment of a value from this set to every free variable in a formulae and of functions and predicates over this domain for every predicate and function symbol that arises in this formula. Focusing on variables, an interpretation is thus a set of references from variables to the domain of the theory. If a formula is true for some, all or none interpretations applied to it, it is called satisfiable, tautology, or contradictory, respectively. The role of variables is to refer to objects from the domain. All variables are equal, but they may play different roles, depending on the quantifiers applied to them. But even then their function is to refer to an object.

Note that in each interpretation, the variable is assigned a unique object that is fixed in the interpretation. One may write this assignment as  $v \to a$  (here v is a variable (i.e. a part of the logical meta-language) and a is an object of the domain). An interpretation consists of exactly one such assignment for each variable. Evaluating if

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding Author: Reinhard Oldenburg, reinhard.oldenburg@math.uni-augsburg.de

a formula is true or false in a given interpretation amounts to applying all these assignments as substitution rules and then checking in the domain if a statement is true. In general we use the term evaluation (w.r.t an interpretation) for the process of determining the object of the domain that an expression refers to.

Note that understanding change on the level of this formal language requires either the introduction of two variables to capture initial and final states or that of a function of formalized time, or, on the Meta level - the consideration of many interpretations.

Of course, this whole story only makes sense if the domain is well-understood. A prototypical example is arithmetic, where an axiom system assures that only domains are possible that are isomorphic to the standard set of integers. To work successfully in this logic theory one has to understand this set of integers, i.e. one needs to be able to decide the truth of predicates (such as 3|12) over this set. What the logic adds to purely having the integers as mental objects is the ability to make general statements over this set.

We conclude with a short look at lambda calculus which is an equivalent logical system that is essentially suited for understanding computation (Michaelson 2011). It is so to say the calculus of pure functions and used e.g. as a theoretical basis of functional programming languages. Variables appear as parameters of functions. Their role is to refer to the input given to the function. This short description is enough for our purpose as we need only the conclusion that with regard to variables, both logic systems, predicate and lambda calculus, don't differ much: Variables refer to something.

#### Semantics based on Frege

Arzarello et al. (1994) and many mathematics education researchers in the sequel work with an intensional semantics of algebraic expressions that derives from Frege's theory. Especially they draw on Freges distinction between sense and denotation (Frege used the German word 'Bedeutung', but it would be misleading to translate this as 'meaning', and most translators avoid this). His most cited example is that of the expressions 'venus', 'morning star' and 'evening star'. They have, according to Frege, the same denotation (i.e. they refer to the same object) but their sense (i.e. all the connotation these expressions may have for you) is different. Thus, when evaluating an expression using a replacement  $a \rightarrow b$  we may lose some information (namely the sense of a) when substitution b for a.

Now, we focus on the application of this to understand the use of the algebraic language. In the words of Arzarello who develops Frege's theory into more detail, one may say that the expressions n(n+1) and  $n^2+n$  have

- 1. the same **denotation** (or the same reference), namely a function in *n*
- 2. different **algebraic senses**, i.e. one is expanded, the other factored. The algebraic sense "represents the very way by which the denoted is obtained by means of computational rules".
- 3. different **contextual senses**, e.g. the first may have the sense of the area of a class of rectangles or it may be the product of consecutive integers.

This distinction is appealing because it can be used to explain certain problems of students, e.g. as being the result of students mixing up these levels or neglecting one.

Interestingly, the denotation, which might seem to be the easiest to characterize, proves to be delicate and is handled differently by authors who base their presentation seemingly on the same theoretical grounds. First note that there is some arbitrary choice made: One might have expected  $n \cdot (n+1)$  or  $n^2+n$  to be a polynomials in n rather than functions. However, (Arzarello et al 1994, p. 110) says that functions are denoted: "For example, the expressions 4x + 2 and  $2 \cdot (2x + 1)$  express different rules (senses) but denote the same function." Taking the denotation as functions may not be what one wants and on the next page they state "The denotation of a symbolic expression in algebra is the numerical set, possibly empty, which is represented by the expression itself." In this understanding, the denotation (when working over the reals) of  $n \cdot (n+1)$  and  $n^2+n$  would be the semi-open interval  $\left[-\frac{1}{4},\infty\right]$ . Moreover, following this line of thought one has to say that x and x+1 have the same denotation when working over the integers or reals (but different denotations over the natural numbers).

The problems to define denotation in a coherent fashion seem to be rooted deeply in Frege's theory. We continue to explore these difficulties by focusing on the somewhat different presentation given by Drouhard & Teppo (2004) that draws on Frege as well. They put out, consistent with Arzarello et al. in the first of his

explanations of denotation) the interpretation that  $2 \cdot x + 2$  denotes a function  $\mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  and that  $2 \cdot (x+1)$  denotes the same function (although they differ in sense). Furthermore,  $2 \cdot x + 2 = 1 - x$  denotes a function from numbers to Boolean values  $\mathbb{R} \to \{true, false\}$ .

There are two severe problems with this approach:

First problem: Because 4+1 and 3+2 denote the same number, one may replace one for the other without affecting the truth of sentences, e.g. ",4+1 is a prime" will stay true after the substitution. On the other hand, the statement ",n(n+1) is a factored polynomial" will become false upon replacing the expression by  $n^2+n$ . Thus, following Frege's intentional semantics, we must say that the truth of statements is not affected alone by what objects expressions refer to, but also what sense they are attributed. This is problematic, because 'sense' is a notion that is in itself not clearly defined. Thus, doing substitutions is a dangerous operation that requires deep analysis each time it is to be carried out – although it is a very frequent operation in mathematics. Quine (1960) has analyzed such situations and called them opaque contexts – which should be warning enough to chase students in this direction of thinking.

Second problem: Algebraic language is context free in the following sense of formal languages (i.e. context is not meant to be a real world context): The rules of the language apply to sub-expressions independent of their position in larger expressions, e.g. is you know that a+b equals b+a then you may replace one of these expressions with the other, independent of its position in some larger expression. And if you know that n refers to a number, then in n+1 the n refers to a number as well. This context freeness obviously simplifies a language very much and is reflected nicely in the view that algebraic expressions are trees where each leaf is a tree in itself that can be arbitrarily complex. In the Frege tradition, however, we are told that x+1 and  $2\cdot x-1$  are both functions  $R \rightarrow R$  and these functions are different, so that we must conclude that  $x+1=2\cdot x-1$  is a false statement because the objects on both sides of the equal sign differ. To overcome this, and allow for equations to be solved for unknowns, Frege followers must scarify context-freeness. They have to claim (and Drouhard&Teppo do this explicitly), that in  $x+1=2\cdot x-1$  the part x+1 does not reference a function, rather as a part, it references nothing, but the whole refers to a function to the Boolean values. Thus, students can't learn one simple rule of what x+1 refers to, but they have to ask in each new context, what sense it has there. Thus they are urged to ask the question, Am I allowed to do this *here?*".

To summarize: Taking Frege's intensional semantics as a basis of algebra gives the vague but useful notion of sense but comes at the cost of leaving denotation unclear and seemingly precise statements are bound to use the vague notion of sense as well.

## **Reference for simplicity!?**

Within logic and moreover lambda calculus, many programming languages and so forth it has been realized that the complexity of the semantics of formal systems is reduced and streamlined if you assume that all symbols refer to something in a unique way. This does not only apply to variables for objects from the domain but also for function and predicate symbols. For example, one may hold the view that (depending on the domain) the equal sign = is not just a syntactical mean like parentheses but refers to something, namely a function from  $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$  to the set {true, false}. This point of view is very clearly articulated in one of the programming language with the slimmest yet most powerful semantics, namely Scheme (Abelson et al. 1998). In this language the equal predicate that the sign = refers to can handled like any other object (e.g. stored somewhere, passed as parameter). To be more precise, entering an expression in this language gives its evaluated value, e.g. entering 5 gives 5 and entering (+ 5 2) gives 7. After (define a 3) we have that (+ a 1) gives 4. The interesting thing is that entering = gives a procedure, e.g. in the racket implementation this prints out as #-procedure:=>. The symbol = is just a name. A standard name that comes defined in the initial environment while a in the example above was a name introduced by the user. Thus even the equal predicate (and as well operations such as +) are used in the same referential setup: These are symbols that refer to a procedure. However, not every part of the language has a reference – a single ( does not have. Nevertheless, this approach greatly simplifies things: Symbols refer to something and that's the value used upon evaluation.

So, a consequence could be to set out the goal to base school mathematics on such a simple and consistent referential semantics that is successful in a vast variety of areas. Every symbol used is then to be understood as a reference to some object and the logic of quantifiers on them may set students in the position to master all mathematical questions in a consistent, simple semantics system.

However, although logically consistent, such an attempt could very easily prove to fail. Its simplicity draws on the following facts that are given for most adult users and creators of mathematics but seem very questionable when looking at learners:

- 1. The domain of objects *S* needs to be clearly understood. As a quantification "for all *x* in *S* we have …." needs an overview of what the elements of *S* are. Yet learners may not have constructed the objects mentally as their own objects, and even if they have constructed some or all of them, it may turn out that the learner is still missing the overview of this domain.
- 2. Even if the domain of objects is mastered, it may be the case that functions on this domain are not yet constructed as mental objects, e.g. the learner may still have the process view without having it reified yet. E.g. it may be that learners can use the definition  $f(x)=2\cdot x+1$  of a function N $\rightarrow$ N to calculate function values, but they may fail to see *f* as an object. Especially they may fail to see that the part *f* of these expressions refers to something. That learners often accept or produce such writings as f(x)=n+1 (thus not linking the variable in both sides of the equation) shows that they view this more like a ritualized way to express a calculation procedure than as an expression composed of parts that have individual meaning by their reference to some objects.

So, from his considerations it is not yet clear, what the relevance of reference is, expect that is desirable. We will explore some more aspects before trying to put bits together.

### **Technology: Computer algebra systems**

The last section has already alluded to a connection to technology and this will be addressed in more detail in this section. When you enter an expression in a computer algebra system (see e.g. Davenport 1988) it builds up a certain structure in the computer's memory that we call an object (it may be a number, a list, a polynomial or some other thing). If one assigns the expression to a variable, then the variable refers to it and in evaluation will henceforth give this object. Thus, we have a referential structure as the working model of such a system. However, it would be absolutely infeasible to have objects used in the way suggested by Frege's theory. Instead, for all modern systems the expression  $n \cdot (n+1)$  and  $n^2 + n$  denote two different objects. Thus, sticking with Frege's theory would mean to explain students, that these expressions denote the same objects, but that the CAS does treat them as different. Or, put differently, it hinders students in synchronizing their mathematical objects and operations with that of the system, and as a result they are not able to learn from the system as a model of correct mathematical behavior. The only way out would be to say that the CAS deals with the sense of the expression, not with its denotation. But certainly, a computer can't work with the contextualized sense, at best with the algebraic sense. This notion is left a bit vague by Arzarello and Drouhard, at least it seems to be not so clearly defined as to become a criterion for checking if a computer algebra system works correctly. For example, one may ask if 1 seen as a number and 1 seen as a constant polynomial have different algebraic sense – if so, it can't be detected by standard computer algebra systems (although, there are strongly typed systems that make this distinction). To say that CAS works with algebraic sense would then require to say that the algebraic sense is identical. The same applies to example such as 1+x as being either a polynomial or a rational function with unit denominator. One of the explanations Arzarello et al. give is that "it represents the very way by which the denoted is obtained by means of computational rules.". But as most CAS treat x+y and y+x as identical objects they can't represent the difference of the algebraic sense between these two writings. I think that the only definition of algebraic sense that is compatible with the use of computer algebra would boil down to say that two expressions have the same algebraic sense if they are represented in the CAS by the same object. But this would eliminate the need for sense as it replaces it with denotation.

Given these problems, I suggest that the easiest way to deal with the problems is to adopt for mathematics in general the way algebraic objects are dealt with in computer algebra systems. This is not to be mistaken as saying that technical decisions of computer algebra makers should have normative power for teaching mathematics. In the contrary, the science of computer algebra systems has established, that the best way to build such systems is to stick close to the ideas of formal mathematics such as predicate and lambda calculus. Thus, supporting a completely different view of mathematical objects would mean to increase the distance between school mathematics on one side and logic, mathematics and computer algebra on the other side at the same time.

To summarize the joint result of the last three sections: We propose that writings of compound signs such as  $2 \cdot x+1$  or  $2 \cdot x+1=3 \cdot x$  refer to mathematical objects which are expressions. Thus, besides standard domains like integers, rationals and polynomials we also consider expressions as a valid domain in predicate calculus. These expressions may – if needed – further be mapped to specific domains such as polynomials, rational functions

etc. but as they are created by writing them down  $2 \cdot (x+1)$  and  $2 \cdot x+2$  denote different objects. By mapping them to specific other domains, such as polynomials, different expression objects may be mapped to the same polynomial object. This allows for a fine grained understanding of identity. In the large domain of expressions we can attribute properties like 'expanded' to these objects rather than to have the need to speak about the vague notion of sense. This is a consistent and clear referential view of mathematics, compatible with mathematical logic and computer algebra systems. Yet, it has to be discussed, if this view is adequate for learners of mathematics. There are some subtle points to be clarified but first let's look at an observation that illustrates that thinking about expressions may be rather close to students intuitive conceptions:

For instance, a child asked by an interviewer to write down the length of a space-ship's path composed of *y* 11-light-years long segments said: "What, shall I write what I would do?"; and after she eventually contrived the formula  $11 \cdot y$ , she exclaimed to the interviewer: "What, is that all it was? Why didn't you say so? I thought you wanted an answer." Thus, for this child the expression was a mere prescription for the sought-for quantity, not the quantity itself. (Sfard&Linchevsky 1994, p. 207)

This shows that this student feels comfortable with  $11 \cdot y$  as an expression but struggles with Frege's view that this denotes a number.

### Understanding by form and by reference

As explained above, modern logic and mathematical software and programming language are extensively based on the idea of reference. When a new mathematical subject is created, researchers define their new domain of objects to be able to use the referential semantics of logic. The assumption that such objects exists at least relatively to some frame (ontological commitment in the language of Quine (1960)) is the first step in doing mathematics. As mentioned at the end of section 3, this view may not be adequate for learners who have not yet constructed the mental objects that variables should refer to. Consider, as an example, functions. There are various theories that describe the learning process of functions. One theory that is prominent in Germany is the theory by Vollrath who describes four steps in the learning of the function concept. Only the last one considers function as objects. A three step theory by DeMarois (1998) similarly puts functions objects on the highest layer. So, if these theories are correct, there must be a way for students to gain meaning other than the referential semantics of developed mathematics. How this way may look like is a difficult question. Besides by Frege, non-referential theories were influenced by Wittgenstein's language games. This is certainly attractive for natural languages, but the approach lacks the rigor needed for formalized proofs. For the purpose of understanding learning however, it may be quite adequate. One may say, e.g., that students learn the rule that after f(x) one puts the rule of some calculation, or they may view the vector analytic description of a line  $\vec{x} = \vec{a} + t\vec{b}$  as a ritualized way to give a point on a line and the direction of a line without seeing any referential meaning (of x standing for a vector to a point on the line or of seeing the whole as a logical statement with free variables that can be used, e.g. to substitute a vector for x and determine if there is a solution for t, i.e. if the point is on the line.). Such language games allow processes to take place and thus they form the basis of reification and the creation of mental objects that can then serve as the basis for referential understanding. The roles of diagrams in thinking can also be understood from this purpose. In (Oldenburg 2011) we put out the thesis that the inscriptions used by some programming languages are ideally suited to support the creation of mental objects. The diagrams are thus means to provide objects.

This gives a perspective on what might be a sensible didactical approach: Language games may be good starting points for the novice but ideally they are structured in a way to ease the creation of mental objects and form the domain of a referential understanding. The various forms of process-object theories such as reification theory (Sfard&Linchevski 1994) and procept theory (Tall 2012) may inform on how this object creation may take place. So the conclusion of this very sketchy paragraph is that successful learning is likely to happen if it is geared towards the creation of mental objects.

#### Then, how important is reference really for understanding?

Here we collect some hints, that reference is an important key in student's use of algebraic formalism. The first observation here is one from Meyer (2013). He led 11th grade students solve a problem of a number triangle, which is a complex arrangement of 7 numbers obeying several rules like that the sum of two adjacent numbers must be the number in a neighboring field. The details are not important, but it is of interest to look at the
transcript (which was found to be interesting by Meyer for completely other reasons) and ask what activities triggered the use of a symbolic variable as a problem solving tool. The student Frank interacts with another student and they talk a lot about numbers, experiment and try out, but they never use any algebraic concept. Then the interesting break in thought happens:

Frank: "...This is two times 7, basically (writes  $2 \cdot 7$  above the number triangle). And here we have one times 9 (writes 9 into the lower outer field) [...] and here (*points at the left inner field*) we have one part, *I mean, one x of 9*, I mean, times *x*, I don't know how to put it, say *x* from 9, and ..." (He intended 9-*x* and finally got to this. Highlights (italics) by RO)

The use of a symbolic variable was thus triggered by the embodied action of pointing to a place and this brought up the use of a variable. Thus, at least in this case, referencing is deeply linked to using variables in a sensible way!

Another (this time negative) example is based in the area of analytic geometry. Certain curricula define vectors geometrically as equivalence class of arrows of the same length and direction. As these objects (equivalence classes) are not so easy to construct mentally, many students pretend that the vectors defined by the arrows attached to parallel edges of a cube to be different. Thus, they often fail to setup adequate vector equations to solve problems, because of the inadequate referential system they have set up.

A third example is given by the composition of functions, especially in the case of function and inverse function. As long as there is no reference to functions as objects, students hardly make sense of a recipe for finding the inverse function such as interchanging y and x and isolating.

The conclusion here is that referential understanding is at least of some importance for the learning of math and the lack of referential understandings may be an obstacle. However, further research is needed to allow more specific statements.

## Conclusion

To get access to the advantages of referential semantics students must construct mental objects to refer to. Thus, it is an important question of educational research how to foster the development of concepts. There are some important contributions in this direction: As mentioned above Sfard, Dubinsky, Tall and others have developed various theories of how objects arise from processes and Dörfler (2005) and others have looked into how inscriptions of mathematical symbols may actually be the mathematical objects that are dealt with. These are important contributions that one can build on (see e.g. Oldenburg 2011) but still establishing a domain to be suitable for use as the domain of a referential logic theory is a lot of work: One must define (and create) the objects and one must be able to decide identity of objects. This is a non-trivial task and students may fail to do cope with this. We think that further research if necessary to clarify how objects are created and to what extend this is a necessary precondition for understanding (or for particular forms of understanding). Especially the paper urges the math education community to rethink if Frege's semantics is an adequate foundation, especially if technology is used in the learning process.

## References

- Abelson, H., Dybvig, R. K., ..., Wand, M. (1998). *The revised<sup>5</sup> report on the algorithmic language Scheme*. MIT 1998. http://www.schemers.org/Documents/Standards/R5RS/HTML/r5rs.html
- Arzarello, F., Bazzini, L., Chiappini, G. (1994). Intensional semantics as a tool to analyze algebraic thinking. *Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Poi. Torino*, Vol. 52, 2.
- Arzarello F., Bazzini, L., Chiappini, G. (2001). A model for analyzing algebraic processes of thinking. In R. Sutherland et al. (Eds.), *Perspectives on School Algebra*, pp. 61-81. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Davenport, J., Siret, Y., Tournier, E. (1988). Computer Algebra: Systems and Algorithms for Algebraic Computation. London: Academic Press.
- DeMarois, P. (1998) Facets and Layers of the Function Concept: The Case of College Algebra. PhD thesis, University of Warwick, England.
- Dörfler, W.(2005): Diagrammatic Thinking. In: M. Hoffmann (Ed.) Activity and sign Grounding mathematics education. Berlin: Springer.

- Drouhard, J.-P. & Teppo, A. (2004). Symbols and Language. In K. Stacey, H. Chick, M. Kendal (Eds.) *The Future of the Teaching and Learning of Algebra: The 12th ICMI Study*. (Pp 226 264), Dordrecht: Kluwer.
- Li, W. (2010). Mathematical Logic. Berlin: Birkhäuser.
- Meyer, A. (2013). Algebraic thinking and formalized mathematics formal reasoning and the contextual. Paper presented at Cerme 2013.
- Michaelson, G. (2011). An Introduction to Functional Programming through Lambda Calculus. New York: Dover.

Oldenburg, R. (2011). Reification and symbolization. Proceeding of Koli Calling 2011. ACM Digital library.

Quine, W. v. O. (1960). Word and Object. Cambridge: MIT Press.

- Sfard, A., Linchevsky, L. (1994). Gains and pitfalls of reification. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 26: 191-228.
- Tall, D. (2012). How Humans learn to think Mathematically. Cambridge: Cambridge.
- Vollrath, H.J. (1989). Funktionales Denken. Journal für Mathematikdidaktik (JMD), 10, 3 37.